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CORPORATE PROFILE
Dragon Rise Group Holdings Limited (“Dragon Rise”) is a 
comprehensive enterprise group serving Hong Kong’s construction 
and infrastructure sector, built on a foundation of operational 
excellence since 1977. With decades of experience, the Group 
specialises in foundation works for both public and private sector 
developments across the city.

In recent years, Dragon Rise has embarked on a strategic 
transformation, evolving from its roots in construction into a 
diversified platform spanning new construction material trading, 
next-generation energy solutions. The Group remains firmly 
committed to supporting Hong Kong’s transition toward a more 
sustainable and intelligent urban future.

At the heart of this transformation is its pioneering battery-swapping 
business for commercial electric vehicles (EVs). By delivering 
fast, scalable energy solutions that overcome the limitations of 
conventional EV charging, Dragon Rise is helping reshape Hong 
Kong’s green mobility landscape. With strong industry partnerships 
in place, the Group is laying the groundwork for a cleaner, smarter 
transportation network.

Powered by decades of operational expertise and guided by a 
forward-looking vision, Dragon Rise Group is poised to play a vital 
role in the next chapter of Hong Kong’s construction and energy 
evolution.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) 
of Dragon Rise Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), I am pleased to present the 
annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the 
“Review Year”).

In the past year, the global economy has begun to stabilise, albeit 
with modest growth. While a global recession was avoided, 
momentum remained subdued compared to pre-pandemic levels. 
Geopolitical uncertainties also continued to cast a shadow over 
global markets. As an international financial centre in the Asia-
Pacific region, Hong Kong remains sensitive to these dynamics while 
retaining distinct local characteristics. In 2024, its real GDP grew 
2.5%, showing a relatively stable performance among developed 
economies.

Real estate has long been a cornerstone of Hong Kong’s economy, 
and its slowdown in recent years has had a ripple effect across 
industries, including construction. According to the Rating and 
Valuation Department of Hong Kong, as of the end of 2024, 
the private residential price index in Hong Kong had declined by 
26.93% from September 2021, signalling subdued sentiment. More 
directly relevant to the Group, the Census and Statistics Department  
of the Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the 
“Government”) reported a 17.2% year-on-year decrease in the total 
value of piling and related foundation works in 2024, highlighting 
the fierce competition and margin pressure faced by players in our 
sector.

Amid these challenges, our Group strategically expanded both 
the scope of services it provides and the sectors it engages in. 
From its origins in foundation works, our Group has evolved into a 
broader infrastructure platform encompassing: construction services 
(including foundation and micro-infrastructure construction); trading 
of construction materials; and new energy infrastructure, with a 
focus on battery-swapping solutions for electric vehicles.

While the new energy segment is still in its early stages and has yet 
to generate revenue during the Review Year, construction services 
and materials trading remained strong revenue contributors. 
During the Review Year, our Group’s total revenue amounted to 
approximately HK$1,314.1 million, increasing approximately 38.9% 
compared to HK$945.9 million from the year ended 31 March 2024 
(“Last Year”). With the increase in revenue, it recorded a gross 
profit of HK$48.3 million, an increase of approximately 22.3% 
from Last Year’s HK$39.5 million. These results reflect not only 
our operational discipline but also the resilience of our diversified 
business model.



6 DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED     •      2024/25 ANNUAL REPORT

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

A highlight of our Group’s future-oriented transformation is the 
launch of our new energy initiative, focused on battery-swapping 
infrastructure for introducing electric taxis to Hong Kong. This 
milestone reflects our commitment to advancing sustainable 
mobility in Hong Kong, and lays the groundwork for broader 
industry collaboration and future growth.

Looking ahead, we remain mindful of continued uncertainty. 
According to research from the CBRE Research Department, the 
market is expected to continue facing challenges of oversupply and 
economic uncertainty in 2025. The economic policies of the new 
U.S. administration, as well as interest rates, will also influence the 
trends in the residential and property investment market in Hong 
Kong. Nevertheless, with the Government’s plans to continuously 
improve the city’s infrastructure and provide affordable housing, 
our Group sees emerging potential in both infrastructure and clean 
energy.

In a complex business environment, we believe that both 
perseverance and adaptability are key to survival and profitability. 
Our Group is committed to excelling in the traditional construction 
industry with a focus on quality, safety, and customer satisfaction. 
At the same time, we are open to strategic adjustments to embrace 
new trends and explore new areas for increased profits. We believe 
that only by doing so can we achieve sustainable development and 
meet the expectations of our shareholders.

Yip Yuk Kit
Chairman and Executive Director



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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INDUSTRY OVERVIEW
Over the past year, the Government has introduced various 
initiatives to stimulate the economy, focusing on enhancing 
exchanges and trade between Hong Kong, the international 
community, and mainland China. Key measures included the 
adjustments made to the “New Capital Investment Entrant Scheme” 
and the promotion of the “Event Economy”, injecting fresh energy 
into Hong Kong’s economic recovery. However, the benefits 
brought about by these measures remained limited in the context of 
broader economic headwinds.

In a bid to revive the local real estate sector, the Government 
removed several taxes for non-permanent residents buying 
properties and raised loan-to-value ratios. While these measures 
initially boosted transaction volumes, the effect on overall property 
prices was marginal, underscoring weak end-user demand. This 
environment also led to a decline in the number of new construction 
sites breaking ground.

As a comprehensive enterprise group offering construction and 
infrastructure services in Hong Kong, the Group is navigating 
a competitive landscape. The local construction industry is also 
grappling with structural issues such as an ageing workforce and 
elevated labour costs, resulting in extended construction timelines 
and cost pressures, particularly when benchmarked against regional 
peers. In response, the Group has sought to build resilience by 
diversifying its operations while reinforcing its core strengths.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
The Group is a comprehensive enterprise group serving Hong 
Kong’s construction and infrastructure sector, with decades of 
experience, mainly engaging in construction services (specialising in 
foundations and Micro-Infrastructure Construction) and trading of 
construction materials. The Group has established capabilities across 
a broad spectrum of foundation-related works, including (i) ELS and 
pile cap construction works; (ii) disposal of excavated materials from 
piling; and (iii) ancillary services including dismantling of shoring, 
site formation, steel fixing and site clearance. Kit Kee Engineering 
Limited (“Kit Kee Engineering”), the principal operating subsidiary, 
is registered with the Construction Industry Council under the 
Subcontractor Registration Scheme under the sub-register of the 
structural and civil trade group.

(i) (ii)
(iii)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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During the Review Year, despite the overall market downturn, 
the Group, with its strong customer relationships and excellent 
reputation for construction quality, had been awarded 14 projects 
with a total original contract sum of approximately HK$1,227.7 
million. The year’s overall revenue reached HK$1,314.1 million, an 
increase of 38.9% compared to the year ended 31 March 2024. 
The Group’s gross profit amounted to HK$48.3 million, an increase 
of approximately 22.3% compared to HK$39.5 million for the year 
ended 31 March 2024.

During the Review Year, the Group made initial progress in its 
newly established new energy segment. New subsidiaries were set 
up to engage in the trading of commercial electric vehicles and the 
construction and operation of battery-swapping stations. Although 
the segment has not yet generated revenue, it marks the Group’s 
first step into the clean energy sector and provides a foundation for 
future development.

Geopolitical tensions continued to weigh on the macroeconomic 
environment. Notably, the first half of 2025 witnessed many 
significant economic events, among which one of the most 
significant impacts on Hong Kong is the United States’ imposition 
of additional tariffs on China as a trade pressure measure. While 
this current trade standoff has been gradually de-escalating through 
multiple rounds of discussions between the involved parties, the 
outlook for future macroeconomic development remains shrouded 
in uncertainty.

The Group’s core business remains anchored in foundation and 
construction-related services. The Government continues to 
implement infrastructure plans across the city, especially in the New 
Territories, to alleviate pressure on the central urban areas. However, 
projects by private developers are still being affected by the sluggish 
real estate market, making any near-term improvements unlikely.

Under such circumstances, the Group has begun diversifying 
into adjacent growth sectors. Observing the escalating trend of 
electric vehicles becoming increasingly mainstream, alongside the 
rising market share of domestically produced electric vehicles, the 
Group has established new subsidiaries dedicated to the trading of 
commercial electric vehicles and the operation of battery swapping 
stations. Management believes the battery-swapping model remains 
underdeveloped in Hong Kong and represents a promising “blue 
sea” opportunity for early movers.

Looking ahead, the Group remains committed to delivering quality 
service in its established businesses while proactively identifying 
new areas for expansion. Continued collaboration with mainland 
Chinese partners and participation in emerging infrastructure and 
clean energy projects are expected to support future development.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue
For the Review Year, the revenue of the Group has increased 
by approximately HK$368.2 million, or approximately 38.9% 
compared to Last Year, from approximately HK$945.9  million 
to approximately HK$1,314.1 million. The increase was primarily 
attributable to an increase in contract revenue due to an increase in 
the number of sizable projects during the Review Year. 

The Board regards the Group’s business as a single operating 
segment and reviews the overall results of the Group as a whole to 
make decisions about resources allocation. Accordingly, no segment 
analysis information is presented and no separate analysis of 
segment information by geographical segment is presented as the 
Group’s revenue and non-current assets are mainly attributable to a 
single geographical region, which is Hong Kong.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin
Our direct costs increased by approximately HK$359.4 million 
or approximately 39.7% from approximately HK$906.4 million 
for the Last Year to approximately HK$1,265.8 million for the 
Review Year. The gross profit of the Group has increased by 
approximately HK$8.8 million, or approximately 22.3% compared 
to Last Year, from approximately HK$39.5 million to approximately 
HK$48.3 million. The gross profit margin for the Review Year 
was approximately 3.7%, compared to that for the Last Year of 
approximately 4.2%. The decrease in gross profit margin was mainly 
due to the relatively low profit margin for certain sizable projects. 

Other Gains/Losses, Net 
Other gain/(loss), net mainly included consultancy fee income, 
interest income, changes in fair value on investment property 
and exchange differences. For the Review Year, other gains, net 
amounted to approximately HK$2.2 million as compared with other 
loss, net approximately HK$0.2 million for Last Year. The increase 
in other gain/(loss), net for the Review Year was mainly due to the 
consultancy fee income of approximately HK$1.4 million recognised 
for the Review Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Administrative Expenses
For the Review Year, the administrative expenses increased by 
approximately HK$9.0 million or approximately 32.4% compared 
to Last Year, from approximately HK$27.8 million to approximately 
HK$36.8 million. The increase was primarily due to (1) an increase 
in staff costs included in administrative expenses of approximately 
HK$5.5 million and (2) an increase in consulting fee and marketing 
fee for new business development of approximately HK$3.0 million 
for the Review Year.

Reversal/(provision) of Expected Credit Loss 
(“ECL”) Allowance on Trade Receivables and 
Contract Assets, net 
For the Review Year, the reversal of ECL allowance on trade 
receivables and contract assets increased by approximately HK$3.9 
million compared to Last Year, from provision of approximately 
HK$3.7 million to reversal of approximately HK$0.2 million. The 
increase of reversal was mainly due to the financial conditions and 
repayment abilities of certain customers in the Group’s business 
have been improved.

Finance Costs
For the Review Year, the finance costs amounted to approximately 
HK$3.4 million as compared to Last Year of approximately HK$1.0 
million. The increase was primarily due to the increase in average 
balance of bank borrowings during the Review Year.

Income Tax Expense
For the Review Year, the income tax expense increased by 
approximately HK$0.8 million or approximately 30.8% compared to 
the Last Year, from approximately HK$2.6 million to approximately 
HK$3.4 million. Such increase was mainly due to the increase in 
taxable income for the Review Year.

Net Profit
For the Review Year, the net profit amounted to approximately 
HK$7.2 million, as compared to approximately HK$4.2 million 
from Last Year. Our net profit margin for the Review Year was 
approximately 0.5%, as compared with approximately 0.4% for 
Last Year. The increase in the net profit margin for the Review Year 
was mainly due to increase in gross profits during the Review Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Key Financial Ratio

Notes

As at
31 March

2025

As at
31 March

2024

     

Current ratio (1) 2.5 times 2.7 times 
Gearing ratio (2) 12.0% 23.1%
Return on total assets (3) 1.4% 1.1%
Return on equity (4) 2.2% 1.6%
Net profit margin (5) 0.5% 0.4%

Notes:

1. Current ratio is calculated as current assets divided by current liabilities 
as at the respective reporting dates.

2. Gearing ratio is calculated as total borrowings (including lease 
liabilities) divided by the total equity as at the respective reporting 
dates.

3. Return on total assets is calculated as profit for the year divided by the 
total assets as of the respective reporting dates.

4. Return on equity is calculated as profit for the year divided by the 
total equity as of the respective reporting dates.

5. Net profit margin is calculated as profit divided by the revenue for the 
respective reporting years.

Current Ratio
Our Group’s current ratio decreased from approximately 2.7 times 
as at 31 March 2024 to approximately 2.5 times as at 31 March 
2025. The decrease was mainly due to the increase in trade payable 
as at 31 March 2025.

Gearing Ratio
Our Group’s gearing ratio decreased from approximately 23.1% as 
at 31 March 2024 to approximately 12.0% as at 31 March 2025. 
The decrease was primarily due to the decrease in bank borrowings 
as at 31 March 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Return on Total Assets
Our Group’s return on total assets amounted to approximately 1.4% 
as at 31 March 2025, as compared to the return on total assets of 
approximately 1.1% as at 31 March 2024. The increase in ratio was 
primarily due to the increase in net profit for the Review Year.

Return on Equity
Our Group’s return on equity amounted to approximately 2.2% 
as at 31 March 2025, as compared to the return on equity of 
approximately 1.6% as at 31 March 2024. The increase in ratio was 
primarily due to the increase in net profit for the Review Year.

Net Profit Margin
Our Group’s net profit margin amounted to approximately 0.5% 
as at 31 March 2025, as compared to the net profit margin of 
approximately 0.4% as at 31 March 2024. The slight increase was 
mainly due to the increase in net profit for the Review Year.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The Directors are aware that the Group is exposed to various risks 
and uncertainties. The following are the key risks and uncertainties 
faced by the Group:

Industry Risks
The future development of the foundation industry and the 
availability of foundation projects in Hong Kong depends largely 
on the continued development of the property market in Hong 
Kong. The nature, extent and timing of available foundation 
projects will be determined by an interplay of a variety of factors, 
including the Government’s policies on the property market in Hong 
Kong, its land supply and public housing policy, the investment of 
property developers and the general conditions and prospects of 
Hong Kong’s economy. These factors may affect the availability 
of foundation projects in Hong Kong. If there is any slowdown (in 
terms of transaction volume and price) of the property market in 
Hong Kong, there is no assurance that the availability of foundation 
projects in Hong Kong would not decrease significantly and our 
Group’s business and financial position and prospect may be 
adversely and materially affected.
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Compliance Risks
Many aspects of our business operation are governed by various 
laws and regulations and Government policies. There is no assurance 
that the Government will not extend the scope of the existing laws 
and regulations or interpretation of new Government policies. 
Further, we may not be able to respond to any such changes in 
a timely manner. Such changes may also increase our costs and 
burden in complying with them, which may materially and adversely 
affect our business, financial condition and results of operation. 
In particular, if there are any changes to and/or imposition of the 
requirements for qualification in the foundation industry in relation 
to environment protection and labour safety, and we fail to meet 
the new requirements in a timely manner or at all, our business 
operation will be materially and adversely affected.

Our executive Directors would hold regular meetings to ensure the 
Group’s operations are in compliance with all applicable statutory 
requirements.

Uncertainties in Construction Progress
Unexpected geological or sub-soil conditions

Prior to commencement of the foundation works, the customers 
would normally provide ground investigation reports to the Group. 
However, information contained in these reports may not be 
sufficient to reveal the actual geology beneath the construction 
site due to limitation in the scope of the underground investigation 
works that can be carried out at the site and/or other technical 
limitations. There may be discrepancies between the actual 
geological conditions and the findings set out in these investigation 
reports, and the investigation may not be able to reveal the 
existence of rocks or to identify any antiquities, monuments or 
structures beneath the site.

All these may eventually present potential issues and uncertainties 
in the carrying out of our foundations works, such as the possible 
increase in the complexity of the project resulting from additional 
work procedures, workers, equipment and times required to deal 
with any unexpected existence of rocks, antiquities or monuments, 
which may also lead to additional costs to be incurred. Nevertheless, 
in case of any significant unexpected difficult geological or sub- 
soil conditions, the Group may incur additional costs in dealing 
with such unforeseen conditions, which may lead to cost overruns 
and may thus materially and adversely affect the Group’s business 
operation and financial position.
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(i)
(ii)

Damage of various underground service utilities

Services utilities may be laid underground or below carriageways 
and footways in Hong Kong. The Group may be obstructed by 
those service utilities when carrying out foundation works. There 
is no assurance that damage to those utilities will not occur during 
the foundation works. Accordingly, the Group may be liable for the 
costs of repairing such damaged service utilities to the extent not 
covered by insurance.

Failure to Guarantee New Business
Our revenue is typically derived from projects which are non- 
recurrent in nature and our customers are under no obligation to 
award projects to us. During the Review Year, we secured new 
businesses mainly through direct invitation for quotation or tender 
by customers. There is no assurance that (i) we would be invited to 
provide quotations or participate in the tendering process for new 
projects; and (ii) our submitted quotations and tenders would be 
selected by customers. There is no guarantee that the Group will 
be able to secure new businesses from customers. The number and 
scale of projects from which the Group derives revenue from may 
vary significantly from period to period, and it may be difficult to 
forecast the volume of future business. In the event that the Group 
fails to secure new contracts or there is a significant decrease in the 
number of tender invitations or contracts available for bidding in 
the future, the business and financial positions and prospect of the 
Group could be materially and adversely affected.

Nevertheless, the Group considers that a public listing status enable 
us to enjoy several competitive advantages, such as transparent 
financial disclosures, enhanced internal control and corporate 
governance practices. Our Directors believe the customers would 
give weight to these competitive edges when they select and 
engage subcontractors for foundation services.
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(i)
(ii) (iii)

(iv)
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES
In undertaking foundation works, our operations may result in: (i) 
emission of air pollutants; (ii) emission of noise from construction 
activities; (iii) discharge of effluent from construction activities; 
and (iv) disposal of construction waste. Therefore, our foundation 
works are subject to the requirements of the following laws and 
regulations in relation to environmental protection.

The laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the 
Group includes, among others, Air Pollution Control Ordinance 
(Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Air Pollution Control 
(Non-road Mobile Machinery) (Emission) Regulation (Chapter 
311Z of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “NRMM Regulation”), Noise 
Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Water 
Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong 
Kong), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong 
Kong), Dumping at Sea Ordinance (Chapter 466 of the Laws of 
Hong Kong), Environmental Impact Assessment Ordinance (Chapter 
499 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Public Health and Municipal 
Services Ordinance (Chapter 132 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

The Group is committed to minimise the adverse impact on the 
environment resulting from our business activities. In order to 
comply with the applicable environmental protection laws, the 
Group has established an environmental management system in 
accordance with the ISO 14001:2015 international standards. 
Since January 2017, the environmental management system of Kit 
Kee Engineering has been certified to be in accordance with the 
requirements of the ISO 14001:2015 standards. Our environmental 
management system includes measures and work procedures 
governing environmental protection compliance that are required to 
be followed by our employees and our subcontractors.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has 143 machines regulated 
under the NRMM Regulation and out of which 38 machines were 
exempted and 105 machines were approved by the Hong Kong 
Environmental Protection Department under the NRMM Regulation. 
In compliance with the NRMM Regulation on the emissions of 
machinery, all of the 38 exempted machines are expected to be 
phased out. To keep the Group abreast of the industry changes due 
to the implementation of the NRMM Regulation, we plan to acquire 
new machines and equipment which are more environmental 
friendly and are able to obtain approval under the NRMM 
Regulation if applicable.
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 COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND 
REGULATIONS
During the Review Year, as far as the Board and the management 
are aware, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with 
the applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has material 
impact on the business and operation of the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, 
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND SUB-CONTRACTORS
Employees
The Group considers its employees the key to sustainable business 
growth and also recognises its employees as its valuable assets. 
Further, in light of the shortage of skilled labour in the local 
construction industry, it is crucial to maintain a competitive 
remuneration package and fringe benefits for our potential 
and existing employees. In this regard, the Group provides 
comprehensive remuneration package includes salary, discretionary 
bonuses and other cash subsidies to attract, motivate and retain 
appropriate and suitable employees to serve the Group. In general, 
the Group determines employee salaries based on each employee’s 
qualifications, position and seniority. The Group has designed an 
annual review system to assess the performance of our employees, 
which forms the basis of our decisions with respect to salary raises, 
bonuses and promotions. The Group also provides on-the-job 
training and development opportunities to enhance its employees’ 
career development and learning.

Customers
The Group is aware of the risk of customer concentration, and 
sought to reduce the reliance on major customer by undertaking 
more sizable projects for other customers.

Besides that, the Group believes a strong and good relationship 
with customers would increase its recognition and visibility in the 
foundation industry. As such, the Group values the views and 
opinions of all customers through various means and channels, 
including regular review and analysis on customer feedback.

The Group also believes that a strong and good relationship with 
customers can further develop new business opportunities in the 
foundation industry.
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Suppliers and Sub-contractors
The Group has developed stable and strong working relationships 
with suppliers and sub-contractors to meet the Group’s customers’ 
needs in an effective and efficient manner. The Group works closely 
with the suppliers and sub-contractors to make sure the tendering, 
procurement and sub-contracting are conducted in an open, fair 
and just manner. The Group’s requirements and standards are also 
well-communicated to them before the commencement of the 
project.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCE
The Group continued to finance its working capital with internally 
generated cash flows and bank borrowings.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had total cash, bank balances 
and pledged deposits of approximately HK$92.7 million (31 March 
2024: approximately HK$134.0 million).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s issued capital was HK$28.8 
mil l ion and the number of its issued ordinary shares was 
288,000,000 shares of HK$0.1 each.

The Placing of New Shares under General Mandate 
in August 2024
In August 2024, the Company raised net proceeds of approximately 
HK$15.0 million (the “Placing Proceeds”) from its placing of 
240,000,000 Shares to not less than six placees at the placing price 
of HK$0.064 each per placing share under general mandate for the 
general working capital of the Group.

By October 2024, all of the Placing Proceeds were utilised for the 
general working capital of the Group.
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Share consolidation and Rights Issue
On 13 September 2024, the Company announced (i) the proposed 
consolidation on the basis that every ten (10) issued and unissued 
shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company be 
consolidated into one (1) consolidated share of HK$0.1 each (the 
“Consolidated Share”) (the “Share Consolidation”); and (ii) the 
proposed issued by way of the rights of up to 144,000,000 rights 
shares of HK$0.1 each (the “Rights Shares”) to the qualifying 
shareholders on the record date at a subscription price (the 
“Subscription Price”) of HK$0.2 per Rights Share on the basis of one 
(1) Rights Share for every one (1) Consolidated Shares (the “Rights 
Issue”).

The Share Consolidation was effective from 14 November 2024. 
Upon the Share Consolidation becoming effective, the authorised 
share capital of the Company will become HK$100,000,000 divided 
into 1,000,000,000 Consolidated Shares of HK$0.1 each, of which 
144,000,000 Consolidated Shares (which are fully-paid or credited 
as fully-paid) would be in issue.

Further to the Share Consolidation, the Rights Issue became 
unconditional on 19 December 2024. The gross proceeds from 
the Rights Issue (before deducting the necessary expenses) were 
approximately HK$28.8 million and the net proceeds from the Rights 
Issue (after deducting the estimated expenses of approximately 
HK$1.2 million) were approximately HK$27.6 million. As disclosed 
in the prospectus of the Company dated 28 November 2024 in 
respect of the Rights Issue, the Company intends to apply the net 
proceeds from the Rights Issue (a) as to approximately HK$19.4 
million, being 70% of the net proceeds, for upfront costs of the on-
going construction projects; (b) as to approximately HK$4.2 million, 
being 15% of the net proceeds, for partial repayment of principal 
amounts of bank loan installments which will be due in January 
2025; and (c) the remaining balance of approximately HK$4.0 
million, being 15% of the net proceeds, for general working capital 
of the Group including but not limited to directors’ remuneration 
and staff costs, audit and other professional fees, administrative and 
general expenses as well as printing fees and listing fees.

Details of the above are set out in the Company’s announcements 
on 13 September 2024 and 20 December 2024, the Company’s 
circular dated 18 October 2024 and the Company’s prospectus 
dated 28 November 2024 respectively.

By March 2025, all of the net proceeds from the Rights Issue were 
utilised as intended.
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TREASURY POLICY
The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach 
towards its treasury policy. The Board closely monitors the Group’s 
liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s 
assets, liabilities, and other commitments can meet its funding 
requirements all the time.

Pledge of Assets
As at 31 March 2025, the Group had pledged (i) approximately 
HK$9.6 million bank deposits (31 March 2024: approximately 
HK$19.8 million and RMB13.0 million bank deposits and an 
investment property situated in Hong Kong of approximately 
HK$3.9 million); and (ii) corporate guarantee given by the Company 
in order to secure bank facilities granted to Kit Kee Engineering.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE
As the Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and most of the 
revenue and transactions arising from its operations were settled in 
Hong Kong dollars, the Directors are of the view that the Group’s 
foreign exchange rate risks are insignificant. Thus, the Group has 
not entered into any derivative contracts to hedge against the 
foreign exchange rate risk for the Review Year.

During the Review Year, the Group placed a portion of its cash 
reserves in RMB in time deposit for interest return, and the Group 
incurred an exchange loss of approximately HK$0.4 million (For Last 
Year: approximately HK$1.0 million).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT 
LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2025, the Group had capital commitments of 
approximately HK$2.0 million (For Last Year: nil) for acquiring 
machine.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group had been involved in 
a number of claims, litigations and potential claims against the 
Group in relation to work-related injuries and non-compliances. The 
Directors are of the opinion that the claims, litigations and non- 
compliances are not expected to have a material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements, and the outcome for potential 
claims is uncertain. Accordingly, no provision has been made to the 
consolidated financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL 
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF 
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
During the Review Year, the Group did not have any significant 
investment held, nor any material acquisitions or disposals of 
subsidiaries or associated companies.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT 
OR CAPITAL ASSETS
Save as disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 26 
January 2018 (the “Prospectus”), the Group did not have any other 
plans for material investments or capital assets during the Review 
Year.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY
As at 31 March 2025, we employed a total of 322 full-time 
employees (including two executive Directors but excluding three 
independent non-executive Directors), as compared to a total of 
338 full-time employees as at 31 March 2024. The remuneration 
packages that the Group offers to employees includes salary, 
discretionary bonuses and other cash subsidies. In general, the 
Group determines employee salaries based on each employee’s 
qualifications, position and seniority. The Group has designed an 
annual review system to assess the performance of its employees, 
which forms the basis of its decisions with respect to salary raises, 
bonuses and promotions. The Group also adopted a share option 
scheme whereby qualified participants may be granted options to 
acquire shares in the Company. The total staff cost incurred by the 
Group for the Review Year was approximately HK$187.6 million 
compared to approximately HK$140.0 million of Last Year.

The remuneration of the Directors is decided by the Board upon 
the recommendation from the remuneration committee of the 
Company having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual 
performance and comparable market statistics.

DIVIDENDS
The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of final 
dividend for the Review Year (For Last Year: nil).
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Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior Management are set 
out as follows:

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
Mr. YIP Yuk Kit ( ) (”Mr. Yip”), aged 69, is one of the 
controlling shareholders, the chairman of the Board, an executive 
Director and chief executive officer of the Group. He joined the 
Group in August 1993 and is one of the founders of the Group. He 
is also a director of each and every wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Group.

Mr. Yip is responsible for the overall business development and 
business strategies of the Group. He has more than 45 years of 
experience in the foundation industry. In 1977, Mr. Yip commenced 
his business of earthwork and air compressor rental in Hong Kong 
through Kit Kee Mechanics* ( ) which was first registered 
as a sole proprietorship. In 1986, Mr. Yip established Kit Kee 
Engineering Company* ( ) where he engaged in ELS 
and foundation works in Hong Kong. On 19 August 1993, Mr. Yip 
co-founded Kit Kee Engineering where Mr. Yip is responsible for 
overseeing the projects and business development. From August 
1993 and up to the present, Mr. Yip is the managing director of Kit 
Kee Engineering.

Mr. Yip has entered into a service agreement with the Company 
for an initial term of three years commencing on 8 February 2018 
and will continue thereafter until terminated in accordance with 
the terms of the agreement. The amount of emoluments paid for 
the year ended 31 March 2025 to Mr. Yip is set out in note 12 
to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
March 2025 of the Company’s annual report. Such remuneration/
emoluments will be reviewed annually by the Board and the 
remuneration committee and he is also entitled to a discretionary 
bonus with reference to his performance and the operating results 
of the Group.

Mr. Yip has not held any directorship in the last three years in 
public companies the securities of which are listed on any securities 
market in Hong Kong or overseas. As at the date of this report, 
he was interested in 193,252,326 Shares held through Fame 
Circle (representing 67.1% of the aggregate number of Shares in 
issue). Save as disclosed above, Mr. Yip was not interested in any 
Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO as at the date 
of this report. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Yip does not have 
any relationship with any other Directors, senior management or 
substantial shareholder or controlling shareholder of the Company.

* For identification purpose only
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Mr. CHEUNG Chun Fai ( ) (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 55, is an 
executive Director of the Group. He joined the Group in October 
1996.

Mr. Cheung is responsible for the overall management and 
business operations of the Group. Mr. Cheung has over 25 years of 
experience in the foundation industry. Mr. Cheung was a technician 
at Fugro-McClelland Geotechnical Services (Hong Kong) Limited 
from July 1990 to September 1991 and a resident technical officer 
(laboratory) of Maunsell Consultants Asia Limited from December 
1991 to January 1993. From March 1993 to April 1995, Mr. Cheung 
worked in the Water Suppliers Department of the Government as a 
technical officer. He then worked in High-Point Rendel (HK) Limited 
as a technical officer from May 1995 to June 1996 and was a site 
engineer at Hsin Chong (Foundations) Limited from June 1996 to 
September 1996. Mr. Cheung joined the Group in October 1996 as 
a site engineer. He was subsequently promoted to the position of 
project manager in 2006 and was further promoted to the position 
of director in 2017. Mr. Cheung obtained a Higher Diploma in 
Building from the City University of Hong Kong in November 1995.

Mr. Cheung has entered into a service agreement with the 
Company for an initial term of three years commencing on 8 
February 2018 and will continue thereafter until terminated in 
accordance with the terms of the agreement. The amount of 
emoluments paid for the year ended 31 March 2025 to Mr. Cheung 
is set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements for 
the year ended 31 March 2025 of the Company’s annual report. 
Such remuneration/ emoluments will be reviewed annually by the 
Board and the remuneration committee and he is also entitled to 
a discretionary bonus with reference to his performance and the 
operating results of the Group.

Mr. Cheung has not held any directorship in the last three years 
in public companies the securities of which are listed on any 
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas. He is not connected 
with any Directors, senior management, substantial or controlling 
shareholders of the Company, nor does he have any interests in the 
Shares which are required to be disclosed pursuant to Part XV of the 
SFO.
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Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. LEE Kwok Lun ( ) (“Mr. Lee”), aged 41, was appointed 
as an independent non-executive Director on 18 January 2018. He 
has entered into a letter of appointment for a fixed term of three 
years with effect from 8 February 2018 and will continue thereafter 
until terminated in accordance with the terms of the appointment. 
He is entitled to an annual director’s fee of HK$180,000. Mr. Lee is 
mainly responsible for overseeing the management independently 
and providing independent judgement on the issues of strategy, 
performance, resources and standard of conduct of the Company. 
He is the chairman of the audit committee and a member of the 
nomination committee. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lee does not 
hold any position in the Group.

Mr. Lee has over 15 years of experience in accounting, audit, 
corporate finance and financial management. Mr. Lee obtained 
a degree of Bachelor of Arts (Hons) in Accounting from the 
University of Hertfordshire in September 2006. He is a member of 
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since January 
2013 and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants since September 2013. Mr. Lee is currently an 
independent non-executive Director of Wing Chi Holdings Limited 
(stock code: 6080), and Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company 
Limited (stock code: 3616), the shares of which are listed on the 
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lee has not held any directorship in 
the last three years in public companies the securities of which are 
listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas. He is not 
connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial or 
controlling shareholders of the Company, nor does he have any 
interests in the Shares which are required to be disclosed pursuant 
to Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr. CHAN Wa Shing ( ) (“Mr. WS Chan”), aged 63, 
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 26 
March 2019. He has entered into a letter of appointment for a 
fixed term of three years with effect from 1 April 2019 and will 
continue thereafter until terminated in accordance with the terms 
of the appointment. He is entitled to an annual director’s fee of 
HK$180,000. Mr. WS Chan is mainly responsible for overseeing the 
management independently and providing independent judgement 
on the issues of strategy, performance, resources and standard of 
conduct of the Company. He is the chairman of the remuneration 
committee and a member of the audit committee. Save as disclosed 
above, Mr. WS Chan does not hold any position in the Group.

Mr. WS Chan, is a barrister-at-law of Hong Kong. He joined the 
Hong Kong Police Force in 1986 and retired in 2016 with his last 
position being chief superintendent. During his employment with 
the Hong Kong Police Force, he was called to the bar in Hong Kong 
in 1996.

Mr. WS Chan graduated with a bachelor of science in pharmacology 
from the University of Portsmouth (previously known as Portsmouth 
Polytechnic) in 1983. He obtained a postgraduate diploma in 
business studies from London School of Economics in 1985 and 
further obtained a master degree in public administration from the 
University of Hong Kong in 1998.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. WS Chan has not held any directorship 
in the last three years in public companies the securities of which 
are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas. He is 
not connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial 
or controlling shareholders of the Company, nor does he have any 
interests in the Shares which are required to be disclosed pursuant 
to Part XV of the SFO.
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Ms. Ding Xin ( ) (“Ms. Ding”), aged 38, has over 10 years of 
experience in accounting, audit and assurance. Ms. Ding obtained 
a bachelor degree of Business Administration in Accounting and 
Finance from the University of Hong Kong in June 2010. Ms. 
Ding is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants since March 2014. Ms. Ding is currently a practicing 
certified public accountant in Hong Kong. She is also currently 
an independent non-executive Director of China Wacan Group 
Company Limited (formerly known as Hands Form Holdings Limited) 
(stock code: 1920), and Wah Wo Holdings Group Limited (stock 
code: 9938), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of 
the Stock Exchange. 

Ms. Ding has entered into a letter of appointment with the 
Company for a fixed term of three years with effect from 12 
December 2024 and will continue thereafter until terminated in 
accordance with the terms of her engagement. She is entitled to an 
annual director’s fee of HK$180,000. Ms. Ding is mainly responsible 
for overseeing the management independently and providing 
independent judgment on the issues of strategy, performance, 
resources and standard of conduct of the Company. She is a 
member of the audit committee, remuneration committee and 
nomination committee. Save as disclosed above, Ms. Ding does not 
hold any position in the Group.

Save as disclosed above, Ms. Ding has not held any directorship in 
the last three years in public companies the securities of which are 
listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas. She is 
not connected with any Directors, senior management, substantial 
or controlling shareholders of our Company, nor does she has any 
interests in the Shares which are required to be disclosed pursuant 
to Part XV of the SFO. 

Saved as disclosed above, there was no change to any information 
required to be disclosed in relation to any Director pursuant to Rule 
13.51(2)(a) to (e) and (g) of the Listing Rules during the Review 
Year. The Board is not aware of any information that ought to be 
disclosed pursuant to the requirements under Rule 13.51(2)(h) to (v) 
of the Listing Rules, nor are there any other matters that ought to 
be brought to the attention of the Shareholders.

38
10

 (

1920
9938

 180,000

XV

13.51(2)(a) (e) (g)
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Senior Management
Mr. CHAN Ho Shing ( ) (“Mr. HS Chan”), aged 56, has 
been the contracts manager of Kit Kee Engineering since July 2005. 
He is mainly responsible for overseeing tender process, contract 
management, administration and quality assurance matters.

Mr. HS Chan obtained a Certificate in Building Studies from the 
Morrison Hill Technical Institute (currently known as the Hong 
Kong Institute of Vocational Education (IVE) (Morrison Hill)) in July 
1988, a Higher Certificate in Building Studies from the Hong Kong 
Polytechnic University (formerly known as Hong Kong Polytechnic) 
in November 1990.

Mr. HS Chan has over 35 years of experience in the foundation 
industry. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. HS Chan worked for 
various construction companies in various capacities. He was a site 
foreman at Kin Ming & Co. ( ) from August 1987 to August 
1988 and an assistant quantity surveyor at Gammon Construction 
Limited from October 1988 to July 1992. He was employed by Fanta 
(CFC) Construction Co. Limited from August 1992 and later left 
with his last position being commercial manager. Mr. HS Chan was 
a quantity surveyor at Yat Ming Construction Co., Limited from July 
1997 to May 2005.

Mr. HS Chan is not connected with any Directors, senior 
management, substantial or controlling shareholders of the 
Company, nor does he have any interests in the Shares which are 
required to be disclosed pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.
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Mr. LEUNG Hoi Ki ( ) (“Mr. Leung”), aged 36, has been the 
financial controller of our Group since January 2017. He is primarily
responsible for the management of financial, accounting and 
company secretarial matters of our Group.

Mr. Leung received a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration 
in Accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 
October 2011. Mr. Leung was admitted as a Certified Public 
Accountant in March 2015. He has over 10 years of accounting 
experience. From September 2011 to May 2014, he was employed 
by BDO Limited, with his last position being a senior associate of the 
Assurance Department. From June 2014 to November 2014, Mr. 
Leung worked as a senior accountant at the Assurance Department 
of Ernst & Young. From December 2014 to January 2017, he was 
employed by KPMG with his last position being a manager.

Mr. Leung has been appointed as the company secretary of Easy 
Smart Group Holdings Limited ( ), a company 
listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2442), with effect from 9 
May 2023.

Mr. Leung is not connected with any Directors, senior management, 
substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company, nor does he 
have any interests in the Shares, which are required to be disclosed 
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.
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The Group recognises the importance of incorporating elements 
of good corporate governance in the management structures and 
internal control procedures of the Group so as to achieve effective 
accountability. The Group is committed to maintaining good 
corporate governance to safeguard the interest of shareholders and 
to achieve effective accountability because the Group believes that 
is the best way to maximise our shareholder’s value.

The Company has adopted the corporate governance code (the “CG 
code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. Pursuant to 
code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman of 
the Board (“the Chairman”) and the chief executive officer of the 
Company (the “Chief Executive Officer”) should be separated and 
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Yip was the 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer during the Review Year. As 
Mr. Yip has been assuming day-to-day responsibilities in operating 
and managing Kit Kee Engineering since August 1993, the Board is 
of the view that it is in the best interest of the Group to have Mr. 
Yip taking up both roles for effective management and business 
development.

Save for the above deviation, the Board considers that during the 
period from 8 February 2018 (the “Listing Date”) to 31 March 
2025, the Company has complied with all the code provisions set 
out in the CG Code.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS 
BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities 
Transactions by Directors of Listed issuers (the “Model Code”) as set 
out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct 
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific 
enquiries of the Directors, all the Directors have confirmed that they 
have complied with the requirements of the Model Code during 
the period from the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual 
report.

THE BOARD
Composition
The Company is committed to the view that the Board should 
include a balanced composition of executive Directors and non- 
executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors), 
so that there is a strong independent element on the Board, which 
can effectively exercise independent judgement. As at the date of 
this report, the Board is chaired by Mr. Yip and comprised of five 
members including two executive Directors and three independent 
non-executive Directors.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section 
headed “Biographical Detai ls of the Directors and Senior 
Management” in this report.

Executive Directors

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit (Chairman) (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Cheung Chun Fai

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lee Kwok Lun
Mr. Chan Wa Shing
Ms. Ding Xin (appointed on 12 December 2024)
Mr. Chan Ka Yu (resigned on 31 December 2024)

Mr. Chan Ka Yu ceased to be an independent non-executive 
Director on 31 December 2024 in order to focus on his other 
business and personal commitments.
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Board Diversity Policy
The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity 
Policy”) since the Listing Date. The summary of the Board Diversity 
Policy is disclosed as below:

• the Company recognises the benefits of having a diverse 
Board to enhance the quality and effectiveness of the Board;

• in designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has 
been considered from a number of aspects, including but not 
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, 
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and 
length of service;

• all Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and 
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having 
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board;

• the selection of candidates will be based on a range of 
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, 
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional 
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The 
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that 
the selected candidates will bring to the Board; and

• the nomination committee of the Board will report on the 
Board’s composition under diversified perspectives, monitor 
the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, review the 
Board Diversity Policy to ensure effectiveness and recommend 
any revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

The Board’s current composition comprises 4 male Directors and 1 
female Director with different ages, lengths of service and diversity 
perspectives, which have been disclosed in biographical information 
shown in “Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior 
Management” on pages 21 to 27 of this report.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s total workforce comprised of 
45 female and 277 male. The current gender diversity of workforce 
was appropriate taking into account the business models and 
operational needs. The Group continually strives to ensure equal 
opportunity across the workplace, including recruitment, hiring, 
compensation, training and promotion for all employees based on 
their knowledge, experience and individual performance, regardless 
of their gender.
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Considering that the objective of the Board Diversity Policy had 
been met, the Board considered that no measurable objective for 
the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy is required to be 
set. The Company will continue to enforce and review our Board 
Diversity Policy. In particular, when the Board identifies potential 
Director candidates in the future, it will ensure that sufficient 
consideration will be given to gender diversity in light of the gender 
distribution of the boards of listed issuers on the Stock Exchange 
which operates in the same industry as the Company.

Independent Non-executive Directors
The independent non-executive Directors have been appointed by 
the Company for an initial fixed term of three years commencing 
either from 8 February 2018 or from 1 April 2019 or from 12 
December 2024 and shall continue thereafter unless and until 
terminated by either the Company or the Director giving to the 
other three months of notice in writing and subject to rotation 
and re-election at annual general meetings of the Company in 
accordance with the articles of association of the Company.

The independent non-executive Directors have brought in a 
wide range of business and financial expertise, experience and 
independent judgement to the Board. Through active participation 
in the Board meetings and serving on various Board committees, all 
independent non-executive Directors will continue to make various 
contributions to the Company.

Throughout the Review Year, the Company had three independent 
non-executive Directors, meeting the requirements of the Listing 
Rules that the Board must include at least three independent non-
executive Director, the number of independent non-executive 
Directors must represent at least one-third of the Board members, 
and that at least one of the independent non-executive Directors 
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related 
financial management expertise.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has given an 
annual confirmation of independence to the Company pursuant 
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. As at the date of this annual 
report, the Company is of the view that all independent non- 
executive Directors are independent in accordance with the relevant 
requirements under the Listing Rules.

Ms. Ding Xin has obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D 
of the Listing Rules on 12 December 2024 and has confirmed that 
she understood her obligations as director of the Company.
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Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors
Each of the Directors has entered into a service agreement or a 
letter of appointment with the Company for a specific term and 
is subject to termination provisions therein and provisions on 
retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the amended and 
restated memorandum and articles of association (the “Restated 
Articles”). Pursuant to code provision B.2.2 of the CG code, every 
director, including those appointed for a specific term should be 
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

In accordance with article 108 of the Restated Articles, at each 
annual general meeting, one third of the Directors for the time 
being will retire from office by rotation. However, if the number of 
Directors is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but 
not less than one third shall be the number of retiring Directors. The 
Directors who shall retire in each year will be those who have been 
longest in the office since their last re-election or appointment but 
as between persons who become or were last re-elected Directors 
on the same day those to retire will (unless they otherwise agree 
among themselves) be determined by lot.

In accordance with article 112 of the Restated Articles, any Director 
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall 
hold office only until the next following AGM of the Company and 
shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with article 108 of the Restated Articles, Mr. Yip Yuk 
Kit and Mr. Cheung Chun Fai will retire as Directors by rotation and, 
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting of the Company.

In accordance with article 112 of the Restated Articles, Ms. Ding Xin 
will hold office only until the forthcoming annual general meeting 
of the Company and, being eligible, offer herself for re-election.
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Role and Responsibilities
The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Group 
and all day-to-day operations and management of the Company’s 
business has been delegated to management under the leadership 
of the chief executive officer of the Company. The delegated 
functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed. Approvals have 
to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transaction 
being entered into by the management.

The principal roles of the Board are:

• set long term objectives and strategies;

• approve major policies and guidelines;

• prepare and approve financial statements, annual report and 
interim report;

• approve major capital expenditures, acquisition and disposals;

• approve connected transactions;

• approve material borrowings and expenditures;

• review and monitor internal control and risk management; 
and

• declare and recommend the payments of dividends.

No corporate governance committee has been established and the 
Board is responsible for the corporate governance functions of the 
Company, which includes:

• develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on 
corporate governance;

• review and monitor the training and continuous professional 
development of directors and senior management;

• review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on 
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

• develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and 
compliance manual applicable to employees and directors; 
and

• review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and 
disclosure in the corporate governance report.
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The Directors will review the Group’s corporate governance policies 
and compliance with the CG code each financial year and comply 
with the “comply or explain” principle in the corporate governance 
report.

Directors’ Insurance
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage for all 
directors in relation to the discharge of their responsibilities.

Directors’ Training and Professional Development
The Company, from time to time, provides in-house training for 
the Directors in the form of seminars, workshops and/or reading 
relevant material on the latest development of applicable laws, 
rules and regulations, management, financial and business issues to 
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The above training 
costs are borne by the Company.

The Directors are required to provide the Company with details 
of the training’s records. Based on those training’s record, the 
Directors received the following training during the Review Year:

Type of
trainings

   

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit A and B
A B

Mr. Cheung Chun Fai A and B
A B

Mr. Chan Ka Yu (resigned on 31 December 2024)
 

A and B
A B

Mr. Lee Kwok Lun A and B
A B

Mr. Chan Wa Shing A and B
A B

Ms. Ding Xin (appointed on 12 December 2024)
 

A and B
A B

A: attending seminars/conferences/forums

B: reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy, 
general business, corporate governance and directors’ duties and 
responsibilities
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Board and General Meetings
The Board meets regularly with at least 14 days’ advanced notice 
being provided for quarterly meetings. For all other Board meetings, 
notice will be given in a reasonable time in advance. The Directors 
are allowed to include any matter in the agenda that is required for 
discussion and resolution at the meeting. To enable the Directors to 
be properly briefed on issues arising at each of the Board meetings 
and to make informed decisions, an agenda and the accompanying 
Board papers will be sent to all Directors at least three days before 
the intended date of the Board meeting, or such other period as 
agreed.

Minutes of the Board and committee meetings are prepared and 
kept by the company secretary of the Company, and are open for 
inspection by Directors upon request. All Directors have access to 
the advice and services of the company secretary, and are allowed 
to seek external professional advice if needed.

The Board seeks to maintain an ongoing dialogue with the 
Shareholders through the holding of general meetings. The Board 
and external auditor will attend the general meeting to answer 
any questions that may be raised by the Shareholders. A separate 
resolution shall be proposed at the general meetings to address 
each separate issue.

During the Review Year, the Board held seven meetings and one 
general meeting. The attendance record of each member of the 
Board is set out below:

Board Meetings
attended/

Board Meetings
convened

General Meetings
attended/

General Meetings
convened

    

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit (Chairman) 7/7 1/1
Mr. Cheung Chun Fai 7/7 1/1
Mr. Chan Ka Yu (resigned on 
 31 December 2024)  7/7 1/1
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun 7/7 1/1
Mr. Chan Wa Shing 7/7 1/1
Ms. Ding Xin (appointed on 
 12 December 2024)  – –
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Subsequent to the Review Year and up to the date of this report, 
the Board held one meeting and the attendance record of each 
member of the Board is set out below:

Meeting attended/
Meeting convened

   

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit (Chairman) 1/1
Mr. Cheung Chun Fai 1/1
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun 1/1
Mr. Chan Wa Shing 1/1
Ms. Ding Xin (appointed on 12 December 2024)

 1/1

BOARD COMMITTEES
To facilitate the work of the Board, the Board has established three 
board committees to oversee specific aspects of the Company’s 
affairs, namely audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), 
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and 
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”). Each board 
of committee has its own terms of reference relating to its authority 
and duties, which have been approved by the Board and are 
reviewed periodically. The terms of reference of each committee are 
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Each board of committee has been provided with sufficient 
resources to discharge its duties and, upon reasonable request, 
is able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate 
circumstances, at the Company’s expense.



2024/25 年報     •      龍昇集團控股有限公司 37

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(a)

(b)

 (c)

Audit Committee
The Company established an Audit Committee on 18 January 
2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG 
code. The primary roles of the Audit Committee include, but are 
not limited to, (a) making recommendations to the Board on the 
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditor, 
and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the 
external auditor, and any questions of its resignation or dismissal; 
(b) monitoring the integrity of the financial statements and annual 
reports and accounts, half-yearly reports and, if prepared for 
publication, quarterly reports, and reviewing significant financial 
reporting judgements contained in them; and (c) reviewing the 
financial controls, internal control and risk management systems.

The Audit Committee consists of three members who are all 
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Ding Xin, Mr. Lee 
Kwok Lun and Mr. Chan Wa Shing. Mr. Lee Kwok Lun is the 
Chairman of the Audit Committee.

During the Review Year, the Audit Committee held three meetings 
and the attendance record of each member of the Audit Committee 
is set out below:

Meeting attended/
Meeting convened

   

Mr. Lee Kwok Lun (Chairman) 3/3
Mr. Chan Ka Yu (resigned on 31 December 2024)

 3/3
Mr. Chan Wa Shing 3/3
Ms. Ding Xin (appointed on 31 December 2024)

 –
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Subsequent to the Review Year and up to the date of this report, 
the Audit Committee held two meeting, and the following is a 
summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee during 
the Review Year and up to the date of this report:

• reviewed the annual results of the Group for the year ended 
31 March 2025;

• reviewed the Group’s financial information, financial report 
system, risk management and internal control procedures;

• reviewed the Company’s Auditor’s independence and 
objectivity;

• made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment 
of the Company’s external auditor;

• reviewed the Company’s external auditor’s management 
letter, significant findings and recommendations;

• reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications 
and experience, training programmes and budget of the 
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function;

• reviewed and discussed the reports from the Company’s 
external consultant with the management; and

• met with the Company’s external auditor, in the absence of 
the management.

There had been no disagreement between the Board and the Audit 
Committee from the Listing Date and up to the date of this report.
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Remuneration Committee
The Company established a Remuneration Committee on 18 
January 2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with 
the CG code. The primary roles of the Remuneration Committee 
include, but are not limited to, (a) making recommendations to 
the Board on our policy and structure for the remuneration of all 
of the Directors and senior management personnel and on the 
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing 
remuneration policy; (b) reviewing and approving the management’s 
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate 
goals and objectives; (c) making recommendations to the Board on 
the remuneration of non-executive Directors; and (d) reviewing and/
or approving matters in relation to share option scheme.

The Remuneration Committee consists of an executive Director, 
namely Mr. Yip Yuk Kit and two independent non-executive 
Directors, namely Mr. Chan Wa Shing and Ms. Ding Xin. Mr. Chan 
Wa Shing is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management is 
determined with reference to the responsibilities, workload, the 
time devoted and the performance of the Group. The Remuneration 
Committee also ensures that no individual will be involved in 
determining his own remuneration.

During the Review Year, the remuneration of senior management is 
listed as below by band:

No. of person
Band of remuneration   

nil–HK$1,000,000 0 1,000,000 2

Further details of the Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments 
and the five highest paid individuals is set out in note 12 to the 
consolidated financial statements.
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During the Review Year, the Remuneration Committee held two 
meetings and the attendance record of each member of the 
Remuneration Committee is set out below:

Meeting attended/
Meeting convened

   

Mr. Chan Wa Shing (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Chan Ka Yu (resigned on 31 December 2024)

 2/2
Mr. Yip Yuk Kit 2/2
Ms. Ding Xin (appointed on 31 December 2024)

 –

Subsequent to the Review Year and up to the date of this report, 
the Remuneration Committee held one meeting, and the following 
is a summary of the work performed by the Remuneration 
Committee during the Review Year and up to the date of this 
report:

• considered the remuneration paid to Directors and senior 
management with reference to their responsibilities, workload, 
the time devoted and the performance of the Group, as well 
as remuneration paid by other comparable listed companies;

• reviewed and made recommendations on the management 
remuneration proposals with reference to the corporate goals 
and objectives of the Board;

• made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of 
independent non-executive Directors; and

• reviewed and/or approved matters in relation to share option 
scheme.
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Nomination Committee
The Company established a Nomination Committee on 18 January 
2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG 
code. The primary roles of the Nomination Committee include, but 
are not limited to, (a) reviewing the structure, size and composition 
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at 
least annually and making recommendations on any proposed 
changes to the Board to complement our corporate strategy; (b) 
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become the Board 
members and selecting or making recommendations to the Board 
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; (c) 
assessing the independence of the independent non-executive 
Directors; (d) making recommendations relating to nomination 
procedures, process and criteria; and (e) assessing each Director’s 
time commitment and contribution to the Board and Director’s 
ability to discharge his/her responsibilities effectively.

The Nomination Committee consists of an executive Director, 
namely Mr. Yip Yuk Kit and two independent non-executive 
Directors, namely Ms. Ding Xin and Mr. Lee Kwok Lun. Mr. Yip Yuk 
Kit is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee.

During the Review Year, the Nomination Committee held two 
meetings and the attendance record of each member of the 
Nomination Committee is set out below:

Meeting attended/
Meeting convened

   

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Chan Ka Yu (resigned on 31 December 2024)

 2/2
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun 2/2
Ms. Ding Xin (appointed on 31 December 2024)

 –

Subsequent to the Review Year and up to the date of this report, 
the Nomination Committee held one meeting. The Nomination 
Committee had reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and reported 
on the Board’s composition under diversified perspectives, and had 
monitored the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy. The 
Nomination Committee had also recommended to re-elect Mr. Yip 
Yuk Kit, Mr. Cheung Chun Fai and Ms. Ding Xin at the forthcoming 
AGM.
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157,500

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY 
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the 
financial statements of the Group. The Directors also acknowledge 
their responsibility to ensure the financial statements are published 
in a timely manner. The Directors are not aware of any material 
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern.

The Auditor’s reporting responsibilities are set out in the section 
headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” in this report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
For the Review Year, the fee paid/payable to Grant Thornton Hong 
Kong Limited by the Group, is set out as follows:

HK$

   

Audit services 1,046,700
Non-audit services 157,500

The amount of fee incurred for the non-audit services represented 
HK$157,500 of the service fee paid to Grant Thornton Hong Kong 
Limited in relation to review of interim financial information. The 
Audit Committee was satisfied that non-audit services for the 
Review Year did not affect the independence of the auditor.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the Company’s risk 
management and internal control systems, and for reviewing its 
effectiveness.

In meeting its responsibility, the departmental heads of the Group 
have to complete a risk management and internal control self- 
assessment questionnaires, identify and evaluate those significant 
risks and confirm to the management that appropriate internal 
control policies and procedures have been established and properly 
complied with. The management then reviewed the findings and 
summarised all material issues to the Board and Audit Committee 
annually. Review of risk management and internal control functions 
are conducted on an annual basis.
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The Group has established guidelines and procedures for the 
approval and control of expenditures, to ensure the reliability of the 
financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operation and 
the compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Whilst these 
guidelines and procedures are designed to identify, monitor, report 
and follow up on risks that could adversely impact the achievement 
of the Group’s business objectives, they do not provide absolute 
assurance against material misstatement, errors, losses, fraud or 
non-compliance.

Although the Company does not have an internal audit function, 
the Board has put in place adequate measures to perform the 
internal audit function at different aspects of the Group. The Group 
has engaged an independent internal control consultant to review 
the effectiveness and efficiency of the Group’s risk management 
and internal control systems in relation to the financial, operational 
and compliance controls, and the results were summarised and 
discussed with the Audit Committee and the Board. The Audit 
Committee and the Board are satisfied with the effectiveness and 
adequacy of the risk management and internal control systems of 
the Group.

INSIDE INFORMATION POLICY
The Company has established policy for ensuring that inside 
information is disseminated to the public in an equal and timely 
manner in accordance with applicable laws and regulations. 
Procedures such as limit access to inside information to those 
who need to know and requiring external parties to execute 
confidentiality agreement have been implemented by the Company 
to guard against mishandling of inside information. The Company 
also reminds those relevant personnel and other professional parties 
to preserve confidentiality of the inside information until it is publicly 
disclosed.

COMPANY SECRETARY
The Company has appointed Mr. Leung Hoi Ki, who is responsible 
for facilitating the Board process, as well as communications among 
the Directors, with shareholders and management. Mr. Leung has 
confirmed that for the Review Year, he has taken no less than 15 
hours of professional training to upgrade his skills and knowledge. 
The biography of Mr. Leung is set out in the section headed 
“Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior Management” in 
this report.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company has adopted a dividend policy setting out the 
principles and guidelines in relation to the declaration, payment 
or distribution of its net profits as dividends to the shareholders. 
The distribution of dividend will be considered and determined 
by the Board based on the Group’s operating results, cash flow, 
financial position, business prospects, and statutory and regulatory 
restrictions relating to dividend distribution as well as other factors 
that the Board would consider.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Procedures for Convening General Meetings by 
Shareholders
Pursuant to Article 64 of the Restated Articles, the Board may, 
whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting.

Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on the 
requisition of one or more shareholder holding, at the date of 
deposit of requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital 
of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings.

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the 
Company Secretary by mail at Unit 09, 28/F, North Tower, 
Concordia Plaza, 1 Science Museum Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, 
Hong Kong for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general 
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any 
business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held 
within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 
21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene 
such meeting, the requisitioner(s) himself (themselves) may do 
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by 
the requisitioner(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be 
reimbursed to the requisitioner(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at 
Shareholders’ Meeting
Shareholders are requested to follow Article 64 of the Restated 
Articles for including a resolution at an extraordinary general 
meeting. The requirements and procedures are set out above in the 
paragraph headed “Procedures for Convening General Meetings by 
Shareholders”.

Pursuant to Article 113 of the Restated Articles, no person, other 
than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the Board 
for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any 
general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose 
that person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that 
person of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the 
head office or at the registration office. The period for lodgment 
of the notices required will commence no earlier than the day after 
the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for 
such election and end no later than seven days prior to the date of 
such general meeting and the minimum length of the period during 
which such notices to the Company may be given will be seven 
days.
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Procedures by which Enquiries may be Put to the 
Board
The Group values feedback from shareholders on its efforts 
to promote transparency and foster investor relationship. 
Shareholders are welcomed to send their enquiries to the Board 
by post to the principal place of business set out in the section 
headed “Corporation Information” in this report or by email at 
info@dragonrise-group.com.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
The Board strives to maintain on-going dialogue with shareholders 
and the investment community, the Company has established a 
shareholders’ communication policy to set out the Company’s 
procedures in providing the shareholders and investment community 
with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable 
information about the Company.

Latest information on the Group including, but not limited to 
annual and interim reports, circulars, announcements and notices of 
annual general meetings are updated on the website of the Stock 
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and on the website of the Company 
(www.kitkee.com.hk).

In addition, the Company regards the annual general meeting as 
the primary forum for communication by the Company with its 
shareholders and for shareholder participation. Shareholders are 
encouraged to attend the annual general meeting, where all Board 
members and external auditor are available to answer questions on 
the Group’s business.

The annual general meeting will be held on Monday, 29 September 
2025, the notice of which shall be sent to the shareholders of the 
Company at least 20 clear business days prior to the meeting.

In light of the availability of various channels to communicate with 
the shareholders, the Board considered the implementation and 
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy to be 
effective and adequate during the years.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL 
DOCUMENTS
Save for the adoption of the Restated Articles for the purpose of 
the Listing, during the Review Year, there had been no significant 
changes in the constitutional documents of the Company.
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INTRODUCTION
Dragon Rise Group Holdings Limited and its operating subsidiary, 
namely Kit Kee Engineering Limited (“KKE” or the “Company”) 
(collectively, called “DRG” or “the Group”) are a long-established 
subcontractor of foundation works services in Hong Kong. Our 
services are mainly required in the construction of commercial 
and residential buildings. We principally provides excavation 
and lateral support works, pile cap construction works, and the 
disposal of excavated materials from piling and ancillary services, 
including dismantling of shoring, site formation, steel fixing and site 
clearance, in Hong Kong.

The board of Directors (the “Board”) is fully committed to 
formulating and implementing ESG strategies. Its ESG performance 
is superv ised by the Board members. Relevant r i sks and 
opportunities have been embedded into the Group’s strategic 
goals, which are also closely aligned with the overall mission and 
vision on sustainability. While developing the Group’s goals, we 
firmly adhered to principles of good corporate governance and had 
carefully considered our activities’ influences on the environment 
and the Hong Kong society. Corporate social responsibilities were 
also integrated into the Group’s business strategy and management 
approach.

The Group is delighted to present the Environmental, Social and 
Governance (“ESG”) Report for the year ended 31 March 2025 
(“Review Year”) in the following to illustrate and highlight our 
efforts and performance in achieving sustainable development in 
both the environment and social aspects.

This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the 
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out 
in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on 
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the 
Listing Rules”) (“ESG Reporting Guide”), with the aim to inform 
relevant parties and stakeholders of our policies, measures and 
performance regarding environmental, social and governance issues. 
To ensure a comprehensive ESG reporting, we would continuously 
take note of different ESG issues and assess their relevance to our 
ESG reporting.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES AND BOUNDARY
This Report mainly covers the major operation of the Group in Hong 
Kong which is provision of foundation works service. Information 
in this Report was sourced from the official documents, statistical 
data and operational information of the Group. We adhered to 
the reporting principles of the ESG Guide, namely “Materiality”, 
“Quantitative”, “Balance” and “Consistency” principles that are 
described below.
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Materiality : The Group has identified key ESG issues through its 
annual materiality assessment topics that are relevant and important 
to the stakeholder and the Group are covered in this Report.

Quantitative : Key performance indicators (KPIs) in this Report 
explained its purpose and are applicable for comparisons.

Balance : An unbiased picture of the Group’s performance is 
provided in this Report.

Consistency : Consistent methodologies are adopted over time to 
allow meaningful comparisons of ESG data.

BOARD STATEMENT
The Group’s internal strategies, policies and procedures are designed 
with the objective of creating sustainable values for its stakeholders 
and minimising the Group’s unavoidable environmental impacts 
generated from operation. The Board has ultimate responsibility for 
ensuring the effectiveness of the Group’s ESG management.

The governance structure is led by the Board while power and 
authority are delegated to the management of the Group. The 
management of the Group has embedded ESG issues in the Group’s 
overall direction and strategies, and is responsible for establishing 
an ESG strategy, managing risk management, and keeping 
updated on regulatory updates with assistance from key members 
of the operational department (the “ESG workgroup”). The ESG 
workgroup is responsible for identifying business related ESG issues, 
determining the Group’s ESG goals and target, monitoring ESG 
performance and reporting to the management. All business entities 
and departments are covered by the risk governance structure and 
risk management process of the Group.

The Board, the management and the ESG workgroup organise 
and hold an ESG management meeting quarterly to review the 
implementation of ESG work, the content of policy and strategies 
established, and the goals and targets set so as to ensure that 
appropriate policy and effective ESG risk management are in place.

STAKEHOLDER COMMUNICATION
Communication with stakeholders is extremely crucial to our group, 
we insist on continually seeking opportunities to do so. We work 
to thoroughly understand the needs and expectations of various 
stakeholders through daily communication, the Group’s official 
website, e-mail, and other channels and respond to them. The 
Group has established a communication mechanism for stakeholder 
expectations and concerns and proactively builds a relationship of 
mutual trust. The people and groups that significantly influence the 
Group’s activities or are significantly affected by its operations serve 
as our key stakeholder group.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT
The Group conducts materiality assessment annually to identify the 
material ESG factors. The Board and the ESG workgroup have taken 
part in the assessment to be one of the key stakeholders to provide 
opinions on the selection of material ESG factors.

In the materiality assessment, we first identify potential ESG 
reporting issues. The issues are then being analysed to determine 
the importance to the Group’s stakeholders and business in 
aspects such as the Group’s strategies, market development and 
stakeholders’ concerns. Following this, the identified ESG issues 
are listed, discussed and given priority. Finally, it is evaluated and 
approved by the management.

I. ENVIRONMENTAL
I.1 Environmental Policies

The Group compl ies with i ts industry re levant 
environmental laws, regulations, codes of practice, and 
other requirements. The Group implements different 
measures to avoid, reduce or control pollution where 
technically and economically feasible in order to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions and air emissions to safeguard 
the health of both our workers and our stakeholders.

• Air pollution control:  ensure strict compliance 
with the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 
311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) in areas including 
“construction dust” and “open burning”.

Procedures are set up to mitigate and control 
dust or air pollutants emission. The procedures 
cover areas relevant to storing, handling and 
transporting construction materials, using tools 
and vehicles, and using eco-friendly fuel.

• Waste control:  ensure strict compliance with 
the Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste) (General) 
Regulation (Chapter 354C of the Laws of Hong 
Kong) in the handling of “general waste”, 
“construction waste” and “chemical waste”.

Procedures are set up for handling and disposing 
wastes, setting up and maintaining waste storage 
conditions, and regulating protective gear for 
personnel handling different types of wastes.
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• Noise pollution control:  ensure strict compliance 
with the Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of 
the Laws of Hong Kong) in terms of “construction 
t ime regulat ion” and “construct ion noise 
mitigation and control”.

Procedures are set up to regulate the allowable 
time and the specific types of equipment for 
conducting percussive piling works. Measures 
to mitigate the impact of noise pollution such 
as choosing tools that would emit less noise, 
scheduling noisy works to be further away from 
residential areas, schools and hospitals, and 
installing noise shields around equipment that is 
expected to emit a lot of noise.

• Water po l lut ion contro l :  ensu re  s t r i c t 
compliance with the Water Pollution Control 
Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong 
Kong) concerning sewage that would result 
from concrete works, vehicle cleaning, other 
construction procedures, and site canteen and 
toilet facilities.

Procedures are set up to regulate the discharge 
of waste water into designated waste water 
discharge points. Measures to prevent leakage of 
waste water into non-designated discharge point 
are instructed to foremen to control the impact of 
waste water to the neighbouring communities.

We ensure that the execution of all construction works 
complies with the relevant laws and regulations, namely, 
the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of 
the Laws of Hong Kong), the Noise Control Ordinance 
(Chapter 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Water 
Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of 
Hong Kong) and the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 
354 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

During the Review Year, the Group was not aware of 
any material non-compliance with laws and regulations 
relating to greenhouse gas emissions and air emissions 
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste 
that would have a significant impact on the Group.
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I.2 Emissions
Plants, machineries and vehicles consuming fossil fuels is 
the major source of greenhouse gas emissions from our 
operations.

The following presents the Group’s Greenhouse Gas 
(“GHG”) emissions for the Review Year:

GHG emissions from use of vehicles

Aspects 1.1 Unit 2025 2024
1.1    

Nitrogen Oxides gram 347,897 355,178

Respiratory Suspended Particles gram 33,743 29,296

In 2022, the Group set target to reduce 10% of GHG 
emissions by 2027, using 2022 as the baseline year. 
To manage the exhausts from our machineries and to 
comply with the Air Pollution Control (Non-road Mobile 
Machinery) (Emission) Regulation (Chapter 311Z of the 
Laws of Hong Kong), all our machineries to be used at 
construction sites comply with the prescribed emission 
standards. Further, all our plants, machineries and motor 
vehicles use diesels with sulphur content not exceeding 
0.005%.

I.3 Use of Resources
In 2022, the Group set target to reduce 10% of energy 
consumption by 2027, using 2022 as the baseline year. 
The Group is committed to minimising the impact of its 
business activities to the environment by following the 
below principles:

• comp l y  w i t h  a l l  t he  l ega l  r equ i r emen t s 
and contractual obligations relevant to the 
environmental aspects in the construction 
contracts in which the Group engaged.

• reduce and avoid creating wastes.

• obtain and renew the mandatory environmental 
licenses, registrations and permits.

• turn off the air-conditioning system at night or 
when leaving the office.
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• keep the office temperature at 25ºC in summer.

• use LED lights or energy-saving lighting at our 
office.

The following presents the Group’s direct energy 
consumption for the Review Year:

Direct Energy Consumption in total and intensity

Aspects 2.1 Unit 2025 2024
2.1    

Electricity Usage kWh 11,016 11,021

Electricity Usage Intensity kWh/office 11,016 11,021

Owing to the nature of our operations, other than 
the consumption of drinking water, our operations do 
not require the use of water or raw materials or other 
natural resources. There is also an absence of packing 
materials involved in our operations. As such, the Group 
has not placed emphasis on the development of policies 
in these areas.

I.4 Waste Management
Due to the nature of our construction works, our major 
non-hazardous waste is construction and demolition 
(“C&D”) materials composed principally of soil. To 
control air pollution during transportation of C&D 
materials to landfills, we ensure the dump trucks used 
by our subcontractors are installed with a mechanical 
cover system which is in good service condition to cover 
the dump bed containing the C&D materials. Further, 
all dump trucks exiting construction sites are required 
to have the dust or debris on top of the mechanical to 
be cleaned so as not to obstruct its operation or pollute 
areas close to the vicinity of construction sites.

Although we are well aware of potential pollutions 
C&D materials can bring to the environment, the Group 
is unable to control the quantity of C&D materials 
to be disposed in a project. The required disposal 
quantity is stipulated in the construction program in the 
construction contract, and the program is designed by 
the main contractor or the employer to the contract.
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Regarding hazardous waste, the Group does not 
produce any from its operations and thus consider 
ESG reporting in this aspect irrelevant to the Group. 
During the Review Year, the Group had 26 projects that 
disposed of soil as compared to 20 for the year ended 
31 March 2024. The following presents the relevant 
comparison:

Non-hazardous waste in total and intensity

Aspects 1.4 Unit 2025 2024
1.4    

Construction disposal: Soil tonnes 3,262,768 2,694,926

Construction disposal intensity tonnes/per construction 
 projects 125,491 134,746

The soil that is required to be disposed as a part of our 
operations are disposed of in designated locations as 
prescribed under applicable laws. The quantity of soil 
to be disposed of is determined by our customers and 
is otherwise proportionate to the number of projects 
undertaken by the Company. As such, the Company 
does not have a reduction policy that may apply to the 
disposal of soil.

The main type of waste disposed of in the course of the 
Company’s operations is that of soil. The Company is 
not required to dispose of hazardous waste.

I.5 Climate Change
The Group recogn i ses  the impor tance o f  the 
identification and mitigation of significant climate-
related matters; therefore, the Group is committed 
to managing the potential climate-related risks which 
may impact the Group’s business activities. The Group 
has established risk management policy in identifying 
and mitigating different risks including climate-related 
risks. The Board meets regularly and cooperates closely 
with key management to identify and evaluate climate-
related risks and to formulate strategies to manage the 
identified risks.
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Through the above method, the Group identified the 
material impacts on the Group’s business arising from 
the following risks:

Climate-related matters

Physical Risks
The increased frequency and severity of extreme 
weather such as typhoons, storms and heavy rains can 
disrupt the Group’s operations by damaging the power 
grid and communication infrastructures, and injuring 
its employees during their work, leading to reduced 
capacity and decreased in productivity, or expose 
the Group to risks associated with non-performance 
and delayed performance. To minimise the potential 
risks and hazards, the Group has flexible working 
arrangements and precautionary measures during bad 
or extreme weather conditions.

Transition Risks
The Group ant ic ipates that there wi l l  be more 
stringent climate legislations and regulations to 
support the global vision of carbon neutrality. From 
a listed company’s perspective, we acknowledge the 
increasing requirements of climate-related information 
disclosures. One example is the update of the ESG 
Reporting Guide with respect to significant climate-
related impact disclosures of an issuer. Str icter 
environmental laws and regulations may expose 
enterprises to higher risks of claims and lawsuits. 
Corporate reputation may also decline due to failure to 
meet the compliance requirements for climate change. 
The related capital investment and compliance costs 
thus increase. In response to the policy and legal risks 
as well as reputation risks, the Group regularly monitors 
existing and emerging trends, policies and regulations 
relevant to climate and be prepared to alert the top 
management where necessary to avoid cost increments, 
non-compliance fines and/or reputational risks due to 
delayed response.
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II. SOCIAL
II.1 Employment and Labor Practices

Employees are our most invaluable assets. It is our 
priority to ensure that the occupational health and 
safety of all employees, subcontractor workers and 
the surrounding communities to our construction 
sites is adequately maintained. Our comprehensive 
Safety Management System provides a framework 
for monitoring and evaluating the implementation of 
our safety policies and measures. We further strive to 
continuously improve our workplace safety policies 
in accordance with guidance received from the Labor 
Department from time to time.

It is also our aim to enhance the well-being and 
development of our employees. As an equal opportunity 
employer, the Group has put in place policies to 
ensure that it treats all employees on an equal footing 
in matters related to, among others, recruitment, 
promotion, appraisals, discipline, remuneration and 
benefits, compensation and dismissal, working hours 
and rest periods, and to emphasise strict prohibiting of 
engaging child labour and forced labour. An employee’s 
age, gender, family status, sexual orientation, physical 
disability, ethnicity and religion would not affect his 
career with us. During the Review Year, we received no 
complaints regarding discrimination issues from any of 
our stakeholders. Needless to say, we ensured that no 
child nor forced labor was employed by the Group.

Apart from providing competitive remuneration and 
benefits, we continue to support and nurture our 
employees through staff development and training 
programmes.

The Group has devised a staff handbook for its 
employees to understand important information relating 
to the Group’s human resources policies, rules, and 
work ethics surrounding employment. It is an essential 
tool in helping to define the expectations of both the 
management and the employees, and also to protect 
them from unfair and/ or inconsistent treatment and 
discrimination.

During the Review Year, there was no incidence of 
labor dispute or litigation regarding compliance to the 
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57). Save as disclosed 
above, the Group complied with all relevant laws with 
respect to employment and labor, and child and forced 
labor.
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Workforce
The Group had employed 322 full-time employees as 
at 31 March 2025, all of whom are from Hong Kong. 
Out of the total number of staff, 277 of our employees 
were male and 45 of them were female. Majority of the 
workforce were within the 41–70 age group, accounting 
for 237 of our staff, while 55 employees were under 
40 years old. Since our business nature is mostly labour 
intensive, majority of our staff are male. The Group 
plans to employ at least 45 female employees by 2027.

During the Review Year, the Group’s overall full-time 
employee turnover rate was approximately 31%. The 
employee turnover rate for male and female were 
approximately 31% and 30% respectively. Majority 
turnover was within the 41-70 age group, accounting 
for 77% of our resigned staff. The employee turnover 
rate for under 40 age group was approximately 20%.

II.2 Health and Safety
The management of the Group is responsible for the 
overall health and safety of employees. The Group has 
been accredited with, and our policies follow, OHSAS 
18001:2007 for our occupational health and safety 
management system.

We place emphasis on occupational health and work 
safety and provide safety training to our staff covering 
topics such as our safety measures and procedures 
for reporting accidents. Due to the nature of works 
in construction sites, risks of accidents or injuries to 
workers are inherent. As such, we devised a safety 
management system to govern our site workers and 
subcontractors.

Work injuries will be reported according to our internal 
guidelines which was set up with reference to the work 
injury reporting requirement by the Labor Department. 
Based on our safety management system, we ensured 
safety and health of our employees in connection with 
the use, handling, storage and transport of articles 
and substances; providing all necessary information, 
instructions, training and supervision for ensuring safety 
and health; providing and maintaining safe access to 
and egress from the workplaces; and providing and 
maintaining a safe and healthy working environment.

During the Review Year, 17 incidents of work injuries 
arose, which led to 5,162 lost labor days (31 March 
2024: 15 incidents of work injuries occurred, which 
led to 4,347 lost labor days). There was 1 work-related 
fatality case occurred during the Review Year (None 
for the year ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 
2023). Subsequent to the accident happened, the 
Group performed investigation and implemented safety 
improvement plan to mitigate the potential risks.
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Our safety officer and board of directors are responsible 
for oversee ing our Group’s hea l th and safety 
management system to ensure our compliance with the 
relevant statutory requirements. A safety committee 
meeting is held on a monthly basis with our foremen 
for reviewing the health and safety issues related to our 
operations. Under the direction of our safety officer, 
our foremen are responsible for monitoring on-site 
implementation of our safety management system.

Save as disclosed above, the Company complied with 
all relevant laws with respect to the provision of a safe 
working environment and protecting employees from 
occupational hazards.

II.3 Training and Development
The knowledge and skill levels of our employees are vital 
to the Group’s success, and hence we provide sufficient 
training and development programmes to allow them to 
excel at their work.

Our training programmes range from professional and 
technical training to personal development skills and our 
employees are required to attend an induction training 
to ensure they thoroughly understood the Group’s 
safety and health policies. In addition, the Group 
provides adequate job and safety training to employees 
to equip them with the required safety knowledge and 
work skills to tackle situations and challenges to be 
encountered at diverse work sites.

During the Review Year, the percentage breakdown of 
employees trained and the average training hours per 
employee, by gender and employee category are as 
follows:

Percentage of
employees trained

Average training
hours per
employee

(%) (hours)
(%)    

By Gender
• Female • 100 17.6
• Male • 100 12.7

By Employee Category
• Senior Management • 100 24.0
• Middle Management • 100 24.0
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III. OPERATING PRACTICES
III.1 Supply Chain Management

As mentioned, our quality management system which 
governs our daily operation for quality control and 
improvement meets the requirements of ISO 9001:2015. 
Our internal policies and thus the procurement process 
are governed by this standard. Apart from background, 
reputation, cost and ability, important consideration 
also include if the supplier has applicable ISO certificate 
for environment and social management certificate. We 
maintain an approved suppliers list set up by the Board 
of Directors. Only suppliers meeting our stringent quality 
standards can be added to the list for our purchases.

Under our policies, our Purchasing Department will 
only purchase supplies from these approved suppliers 
to ensure quality of our purchases. During the Review 
Year, the Group had engaged 47 (31 March 2024: 43) 
suppliers and subcontractors while all of them were 
located in Hong Kong. Further, with reference to the 
quality requirement of our construction projects, our 
project staff or the directors would also pay visits to 
suppliers to communicate our requirements, while at 
the same time inspect the suppliers’ warehouse to 
conduct a sample check on the quality of the goods. 
Upon reception of goods at project sites, the foremen 
are responsible for the inspection of the delivered goods 
to ensure they can meet our quality requirements before 
settling payment.

For subcontractors’ quality management, similar to 
that of purchasing, we maintain a list of approved 
subcontractors. Regular inspection on the quality of 
works and progress as delivered by our subcontractors 
would be performed by our project managers. We have 
made it clear to our subcontractors that compliance 
with the labor laws and regulations is mandatory when 
handling safety and employment matters at construction 
sites.

During the Review Year, the Group did not identify any 
non-compliances in relation to safety and labor laws and 
regulations.
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Achieving and maintaining high quality standard for 
projects are the most important for the sustainable 
growth of the Group. The Group strives to maintain 
good relat ionship with our major customers to 
establish good reputation and to gain future business 
opportunity.

Acknowledging our responsibi l i ty in protecting 
intellectual property rights, we protect intellectual 
property rights by not infringing other’s intellectual 
property rights and purchasing licensed software from 
authorised suppliers.

In relation to data privacy, the Group manages all 
information provided by clients, employees, business 
partners in accordance with the related laws and 
regulations such as Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance to 
ensure that information is under proper protection. 

During the Review Year, the Group was not aware 
of any material non-compliance with any laws and 
regulations in Hong Kong related to product health 
and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters in 
respect of products and services provided and methods 
of redress including but not limited to, the Trade 
Descriptions Ordinance and Personal Data (Privacy) 
Ordinance, that would have a significant impact to the 
Group. There was no complaint received during the 
Reporting Period. Given the Group’s business nature, 
the Group was not involved in the sale of products, 
therefore disclosure on product recall procedures and 
number of products recalled are not applicable.
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III.3 Anti-corruption
Over the years, we have witnessed no incidences 
of suspected or actual bribery, extortion, fraud and 
money laundering activities occurring within the Group. 
We stand firmly by our anti-corruption policies and 
procurement practices as stated in our internal manuals 
which comply with applicable laws. Acceptance of 
kickbacks, commissions or any form of benefit is strictly 
prohibited during any procurement exercise, contract 
negotiation or other business dealings.

During the Review Year, the Group was not aware 
of any material non-compliance with any laws and 
regulations in Hong Kong related to bribery, extortion, 
fraud and money laundering including but not limited 
to, the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance, that would have 
a significant impact to the Group.

III.4 Conflict of Interest Management
In order to prevent employees and directors from 
not taking corresponding measures because of their 
personal interests, the Group has formulated the 
“Declaration of Interest” which provides guidelines and 
procedures to employees and directors in exercising 
their utmost good faith and honesty in all transactions 
involving their duties and under no circumstances 
should they use their positions or knowledge gained for 
their own personal benefits. Employees and directors 
must ensure that there is no conflict of interest between 
their personal interests and their duties, obligations and 
responsibilities to the Group. Those who have or have 
had a personal relationship with related person where 
a conflict of interest is perceived should provide written 
declarations at the earliest possible opportunity.

III.5 Whistleblowing Mechanism
Committed to the highest possible standards of 
openness, probity and accountability, the Group 
expects and encourages our employees and directors 
who have concerns about any suspected misconduct 
or malpractice within the Group to come forward 
and voice those concerns. Therefore, the Group 
adopts a “Whistleblowing Policy” for all levels and 
operations. Complainants are assured of protection 
against unfair dismissal, victimisation or unwarranted 
disciplinary action, even if the concerns turn out to be 
unsubstantiated. The Audit Committee is responsible 
for monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the 
“Whistleblowing Policy” and make recommendations 
for further improvement based on investigation results.
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III.6 Community Investment
We believe that the success of a business is intrinsically 
linked to the well-being of the communities in which 
it operates. As part of our ESG commitments, we 
continued to deepen our community engagement 
efforts, with a focus on supporting the underprivileged 
and fostering a more inclusive society.

We participated in a series of seasonal charity initiatives 
aimed at bringing warmth and care to marginalised 
groups. During the Dragon Boat Festival, we supported 
outreach efforts led by local charitable organisations to 
visit and deliver care packages to elderly residents living 
in remote areas. This was followed by a Mid-Autumn 
Festival initiative in which we donated mooncakes and 
daily necessities to families in need. Around the 2025 
Lunar New Year season, we once again partnered with 
community-based charities to distribute festive supplies 
to low-income households, helping them to celebrate 
the new year with peace of mind.

These activities reflect the Group’s enduring commitment 
to social responsibility. We view community investment 
not as an obligation, but as a fundamental expression 
of our corporate values – one that strengthens our 
relationship with society and contributes to long-term, 
sustainable development.

IV. FUTURE APPROACH TO SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT
In the future, we will:

• continue to raise our staff and subcontractors’ 
awareness in relation to environmental protection;

• maintain the highest standards for occupational health 
and safety to protect our staff members and the 
communities located in the vicinity of our operations; 
and

• fur ther extend our care to the communi ty by 
participating in more charity services.
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The Board is pleased to submit this annual report together with the 
audited financial statements of the Group for the Review Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is an investment holding company, the principal 
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 15 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

REORGANISATION AND SHARE OFFER
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 22 
February 2017 as an exempted company with limited liability. The 
Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 8 
February 2018.

Pursuant to the Reorganisation, the Company became the holding 
company of the Group on 21 August 2017.

RESULTS/BUSINESS REVIEW
The results of the Group for the Review Year are set out in the 
section headed “Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss” and 
“Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income” on pages 81 
to 82 in this report. The business review of the Group for the Review 
Year is set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and 
Analysis” on pages 7 to 20.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movement in the share capital of the Company during 
the Review Year are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the 
Review Year are set out in the section headed “Consolidated 
Statement of Changes in Equity” on page 85.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 March 2025, calculated 
under the Companies Law of Cayman Islands amounted to 
approximately HK$89.7 million (31 March 2024: HK$63.9 million).

FINAL DIVIDEND
The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of a final 
dividend for the Review Year.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE 
GROUP’S SECURITIES
During the Review Year, neither the Company nor any of its 
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Group’s 
securities.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movement in property, plant and equipment of the Group 
during the Review Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Restated 
Articles or the Laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige 
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing 
shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the 
Company are set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance 
Report” on pages 28 to 45 in this report.

TAX RELIEF
The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation to which 
the Shareholders are entitled by reason of their holding of such 
securities.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (“AGM”)
The 2025 AGM will be held on 29 September 2025. The notice of 
the AGM will be published and dispatched to shareholders of the 
Company in the manner as required by the Listing Rules in due 
course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
The Hong Kong branch register of members of the Company will be 
closed from 24 September 2025 to 29 September 2025 (both dates 
inclusive) for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement 
to attend and vote at the forthcoming AGM. No transfer of shares 
may be registered on those dates. The record date for determining 
the eligibility of shareholders to attend and vote at the AGM will 
be 29 September 2025. In order to qualify for the shareholders’ 
entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer forms 
accompanied by the relevant share certificates should be lodged 
with the Company’s Branch Registrar in Hong Kong, Boardroom 
Share Registrars (HK) Limited, 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road, North 
Point Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 23 September 2025.
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3.13

3.09D

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the Review Year and up to the 
date of this report are:

Executive Directors
Mr. Yip Yuk Kit (Chairman)
Mr. Cheung Chun Fai

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Ka Yu (resigned on 31 December 2024)
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun
Mr. Chan Wa Shing
Ms. Ding Xin (appointed on 12 December 2024)

In accordance with article 108 of the Restated Articles, at each 
annual general meeting, one third of the Directors for the time 
being will retire from office by rotation. However, if the number of 
Directors is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but 
not less than one third shall be the number of retiring Directors. The 
Directors who shall retire in each year will be those who have been 
longest in the office since their last re-election or appointment but 
as between persons who become or were last re-elected Directors 
on the same day those to retire will (unless they otherwise agree 
among themselves) be determined by lot.

In accordance with article 112 of the Restated Articles, any Director 
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall 
hold office only until the next following AGM of the Company and 
shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with article 108 of the Restated Articles, Mr. Yip Yuk 
Kit and Mr. Cheung Chun Fai will retire as Directors by rotation and, 
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting of the Company.

In accordance with article 112 of the Restated Articles, Ms. Ding Xin 
will hold office only until the forthcoming annual general meeting 
of the Company and, being eligible, offer herself for re-election.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non- 
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence 
pursuant to the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company 
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors to be 
independent.

Ms. Ding Xin has obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D 
of the Listing Rules on 12 December 2024 and has confirmed that 
she understood her obligations as director of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Details of Director’s service contracts are set out in the section 
headed “Biographical Detai ls of the Directors and Senior 
Management” on pages 21 to 27.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the 
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with any member of 
the Group which is not determinable by the Group within one 
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory 
compensation).

COMPETING INTERESTS
The Directors confirm that neither the controlling shareholders of 
the Company nor their respective close associates is interested in 
a business apart from the Group’s business which competes or is 
likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business 
during the Review Year, and is required to be disclosed pursuant to 
Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS
As disclosed in the prospectus of the company dated 26 January 
2018, Mr. Yip and Fame Circle Limited (the “Control l ing 
Shareholders”) entered into a deed of non-competition in favour of 
the Company on 18 January 2018 regarding the non-competition 
undertakings given by each of the Controlling Shareholders in 
favour of the Company (for itself and as trustee for its subsidiaries) 
(the “Non-competition Undertakings”). A summary of the principal 
terms of the Non-competition Undertakings is set out in the section 
headed “Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders” of the 
prospectus of the Company.

The Controlling Shareholders have provided a written confirmation 
to the Company confirming that he/it has fully complied with the 
Non-competition Undertakings. The independent non-executive 
Directors have reviewed the confirmations of the Controlling 
Shareholders and were satisfied that the Controlling Shareholders 
have fully complied with the terms of the Non-competition 
Undertakings during the Review Year. No new competing business 
was reported by the Controlling Shareholders throughout the 
Relevant Period.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group 
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited 
consolidated financial statements in this report, is set out on page 
172.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage for 
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its 
Directors and senior management arising from corporate activities.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION, 
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF 
SIGNIFICANCE
No Director, or any entity connected with a Director, had any 
material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, 
arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the 
Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party 
during the Review Year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN 
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
Save as otherwise disclosed, no contract of significance to which 
the Company, its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries was a 
party or contract of significance for the provision of services to the 
company, its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries, and in 
which the controlling shareholders’ of the Company had a material 
interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted or at any time during 
the Review Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the 
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were 
entered into or existed during the Review Year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND 
SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The biographical details of Directors and senior management of the 
Group are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of the 
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 21 to 27.

EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS
A remuneration committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s 
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the 
Directors and senior management of the Group. The Remuneration 
Committee recommends Directors’ remuneration to the Board by 
reference to the benchmarking of the market. The Company also 
looks into individual Director’s competence, duties, responsibilities, 
performance and the results of the Group in determining the exact 
level of remuneration for each Director.
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 Fame Circle Limited 67.10%
Fame Circle Limited

Fame Circle Limited

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 
EMOLUMENTS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID 
INDIVIDUALS
Details of the Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments and the 
five highest paid individuals are set in note 12 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES 
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND 
THE ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the 
Directors or chief executive of the Company in the Shares, 
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of the 
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the 
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) which have been 
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to 
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests or 
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such 
provisions of the SFO) or which, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, 
have been entered in the register referred to therein, or have been, 
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors 
of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”) in the Listing Rules, 
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long Position in Our Shares

Name of Directors Capacity/Nature

Number of
ordinary Shares

held/interested in
Percentage of
shareholding

    

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit Interest in a controlled corporation (Note) 193,252,326 67.10%
193,252,326 67.10%

Note: The Company will be owned as to 67.10% by Fame Circle Limited. 
Fame Circle Limited is legally and beneficially owned as to 100% by 
Mr. Yip. Under the SFO, Mr. Yip is deemed to be interested in the 
same number of Shares held by Fame Circle Limited.
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Long Position in the Shares of Associated 
Corporation

Name of Directors
Name of associated
corporation Capacity/Nature

Number of
ordinary shares

held/interested in
Percentage of

interest

     

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit Fame Circle Limited Beneficial interest 50,000 100%
Fame Circle Limited 50,000 100%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors 
had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares 
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations 
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the 
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as 
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange under 
the Model Code.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL AND OTHER 
SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES AND 
UNDERLYING SHARES
As at 31 March 2025, so far as is known to the Directors, the 
following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the 
Company) had interests or short positions in Shares or underlying 
Shares which would fell to be disclosed to the Company and the 
Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part 
XV of the SFO or, who are, directly or indirectly, interested in 10% 
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying 
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the 
Company or any other member of the Group, or which would be 
required, pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the 
register required referred to therein, were as follows:

Name Capacity/Nature

Number of
ordinary Shares

held/interested in
Percentage of

interest

    

Fame Circle Limited Beneficial interest (Note 1) 193,252,326 67.10%
Fame Circle Limited 1 193,252,326 67.10%

Ms. Yip Lai Ping Interest of spouse (Note 2) 193,252,326 67.10%
2 193,252,326 67.10%
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Circle

Fame Circle

2. 

XV

336

30%
10%

Notes:

1. Fame Circle is owned as to 100% by Mr. Yip. Mr. Yip is the sole 
director of Fame Circle. Under the SFO, Mr. Yip is deemed to be 
interested in the same number of Shares held by Fame Circle.

2. Ms. Yip is the spouse of Mr. Yip. Under the SFO, Ms. Yip is deemed 
to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. Yip is 
interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Directors were 
not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief executive 
of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the 
shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be 
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under Part XV of 
the SFO or which  were records in the register required to be kept 
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option 
Scheme”) on 18 January 2018 which will remain in force for ten 
years from that date. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme 
is approximately three years. The purpose of the Share Option 
Scheme is to attract and retain the best available personnel of our 
Group, and to allow the participants of the scheme an opportunity 
to have a personal stake in the Company.

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include any 
employee (full-time or part-time), director, consultant or advisor of 
any member of the Group, or any substantial shareholder of the 
Company, or any distributor, contractor, supplier, agent, customer, 
business partner or service provider of any member of the Group. 
The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of an option 
under the scheme will be determined by the Board from time to 
time based on their contribution or potential contribution to the 
development and growth of the Group.

The number of shares issuable under options granted to each 
eligible participant in accordance with the Share Option Scheme 
shall be limited to 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from 
time to time, and limited to 10% of the shares in issue as at the 
date of the Company’s listing.
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Each grant of options to a Director, chief executive or substantial 
shareholder of the Company (or any of their respective associates) 
must be approved by our independent non-executive Directors 
(excluding independent non-executive Director who is the grantee 
of the option). Where any grant of options to a substantial 
shareholder or an independent non-executive Director (or any of 
their respective associates) would result in the Company’s shares 
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted 
and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and 
outstanding) to such person in excess of 0.1% of the issued shares 
of the Company in aggregate and with an aggregate value (based 
on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) 
in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, is subject to 
shareholders’ approval in advance in general meeting.

The exercise price of options is determined by the Board, but shall 
be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s 
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on 
the date of grant of the option, which must be a business day; (ii) 
the average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the 
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days 
immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the 
par value of the Company’s shares.

The number of options available for grant under the Share Option 
Scheme as at 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 were 12,000,000 
and 12,000,000 respectively, representing 10.00% and 4.17% of 
total issued shares of the Company (excluding treasury shares, if 
any).

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of securities 
of the Company available for issue under the Share Option Scheme 
was 12,000,000, representing 4.17% of the issued shares as at 
the date of this annual report. No share option has been granted, 
exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since 
its adoption on 18 January 2018, and there is no outstanding share 
option as at 31 March 2025.

ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR 
DEBENTURES
At no time during the Review Year and up to the date of this 
report was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or a party to any 
arrangement to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire 
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of 
the Company or any body corporate.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS
The percentage of sales and purchases for the Review Year 
attributable to the Group’ major customers and suppliers are as 
follow:

Sales

–  the largest customer 30.9% (For the year ended 31 March 
2024: 40.4%)

–  five largest customers 91.7% (For the year ended 31 March 
2024: 91.1%)

Purchases

– the largest supplier 17.9% (For the year ended 31 March 
2024: 22.0%)

– five largest suppliers 44.2% (For the year ended 31 March 
2024: 38.3%)

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholder 
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of 
the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major customers 
or suppliers noted above.

RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS
Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken in 
the normal course of business are set out in the note 28 to the 
consolidated financial statements, and none of which constitutes 
a discloseable connected transaction as defined under the Listing 
Rules.

SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 15 to 
the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company 
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirmed 
that the Company has maintained a sufficient amount of public 
float for its Shares as required under the Listing Rules during the 
Review Year and up to the date of this report.
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RETIREMENT SCHEME
The Group participates in the mandatory provident fund prescribed 
by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 
485 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Save as the aforesaid, the Group 
did not participate in any other pension schemes during the Review 
Year.

AUDITOR
The consolidated financial statements for the Review Year have 
been audited by Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited, who will 
retire and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. There has 
been no change in the auditor of the Company since its Listing.

EVENTS AFTER THE REVIEW YEAR
On 13 June 2025, Dragon Rise Auto Services Limited, a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a strategic 
cooperation framework agreement with (i) an automotive trader, (ii) 
a mobile energy solutions provider, and (iii) a digital energy service 
provider to jointly promote the development of new energy industry 
in Hong Kong by constructing energy replenishment infrastructure 
and promoting electrification in transportation with an aim to 
establish a comprehensive battery-swapping network. For details, 
please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 17 June 2025.

By Order of the Board
Dragon Rise Group Holdings Limited
Yip Yuk Kit
Chairman and executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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To the members of Dragon Rise Group Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Dragon 
Rise Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(together, the “Group”) set out on pages 81 to 172, which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 
March 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, including material accounting policy 
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 
March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly 
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong 
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent 
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters.



 

2024/25 年報     •      龍昇集團控股有限公司 73

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Accounting for construction contracts
Refer to material accounting policies in note 2.14 and note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
  

We identified construction contract revenue and contract 
assets as a key audit matter as they are quantitatively 
significant to the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole.

As disclosed in notes 5 and 18 to the consolidated financial 
statements, the construction contracts revenue amounted 
to approximately HK$1,222,588,000 for the year ended 
31 March 2025 and the contract assets amounted to 
approximately HK$273,125,000 as at 31 March 2025. As 
set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, 
the Group recognised contract revenue by reference to the 
progress of satisfying the performance obligation at the 
reporting date.

Our audit procedures in relation to the construction 
contracts included the following:

• understanding the Group’s internal controls over 
the recognition of contract revenue for construction 
contracts;

• discussing with management of the Group and 
checking on a sample basis, the supporting 
documents such as contracts and variation orders 
to evaluate the reasonableness of the revenue 
recognised;

• assessing the revenue from construction contracts 
by comparing, on a sample basis, with the latest 
certificates issued by the customers or their agents 
before and after year end; and

• checking the revenue to underlying construction 
contracts entered into with customers and 
other relevant correspondences and supporting 
documents in respect of variations in construction 
works or price adjustments on a sample basis.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Estimation of expected credit losses on trade and 
other receivables and contract assets
Refer to material accounting policies in note 2.7, note 4 for the critical accounting estimates involved, note 16, note 18 
and note 32.4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
  

As at 31 March 2025, the net carrying amount of trade 
and other receivables and contract assets amounted to 
HK$122,753,000 and HK$273,125,000 respectively (net 
of expected credit losses (“ECL”) of HK$1,492,000 and 
HK$3,790,000, respectively), accounting for approximately 
77% of the Group’s total assets in aggregate.

Management performed periodic review on the status 
of construction projects and individual credit evaluations 
on significant customers. These evaluations focused on 
the customer’s settlement history and current and future 
ability to pay, and took into account the information 
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the 
current and future economic environment in which the 
customer operates. Independent valuer was engaged 
by the management for the valuation of the ECL as 
at the end of reporting date.

We identified the ECL measurement on trade and other 
receivables and contract assets as a key audit matter due 
to the significant management’s judgements and estimates 
involved in the ECL assessment.

Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s 
assessment on the ECL measurement of trade and other 
receivables and contract assets included:

• understanding, evaluating and validating the 
design of the controls over impairment assessment 
of trade and other receivables and contract assets. 
Those controls related to the identification of 
events that triggered the provision for impairment 
of receivables from construction contracts and 
estimation of the impairment provisions;

• evaluating the independent external valuer’s 
competence, capabilities and objectivities;

• discussing with the independent valuer engaged by 
the management and obtaining the independent 
ECL valuation report to reassess the ECL allowance 
of trade receivables and contract assets; and

• evaluating, with the assistant of our internal 
va luat ion specia l i s t, the reasonableness of 
management’s ECL al lowance est imates by 
examining the information used by the independent 
valuer engaged by the management to form such 
judgement, including testing the accuracy of the 
historical default data, evaluating whether the 
historical loss rates are appropriately adjusted based 
on current economic conditions and forward-
looking information.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Accounting for construction contracts
2.14 5
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Estimation of expected credit losses on trade and 
other receivables and contract assets

2.7 4 16 18
32.4

  

1 2 2 , 7 5 3 , 0 0 0
273,125,000

1,492,000 3,790,000  
77%

• 

• 

• 

• 



 

2024/25 年報     •      龍昇集團控股有限公司 77

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

 

 

 

 

 

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises all the information in the 2025 annual report 
of the Company, but does not include the consolidated financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover 
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing 
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 
with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are 
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors 
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for 
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our 
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed 
terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume 
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the 
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control.

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (continued)

• conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the 
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 
going concern.

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent 
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

• plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information 
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis 
for forming an opinion on the Group financial statements. We 
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of 
the audit work performed for purpose of the group audit. We 
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that 
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, 
we determine those matters that were of most significance in 
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants
11th Floor, Lee Garden Two
28 Yun Ping Road
Causeway Bay
Hong Kong SAR

26 June 2025

Kan Kai Ching
Practising Certificate No.: P07816
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2025 2024

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Revenue 5 1,314,136 945,852
Direct costs (1,265,827) (906,389)     

Gross profit 48,309 39,463
Other gain/(loss), net 6 2,228 (177)
Administrative expenses (36,834) (27,759)
Reversal/(provision) of expected credit 
 losses (“ECL”) allowance on trade and 
 other receivables and contract assets, 
 net

 
 
 246 (3,733)

Finance costs 7 (3,448) (1,000)     

Profit before income tax 8 10,501 6,794
Income tax expense 9 (3,351) (2,626)     

Profit for the year 7,150 4,168
     

Profit for the year attributable to:
 Equity holders of the Company  9,032 4,188
 Non-controlling interests  (1,882) (20)     

7,150 4,168
     

HK cents HK cents

(Restated)

Earnings per share attributable to 
 equity holders of the Company  
Basic and diluted 11 3.98 2.36
     

The notes on pages 88 to 172 are an integral part of these 
consolidated financial statements.
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2025 2024

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Profit for the year 7,150 4,168

Other comprehensive gain:
Items that may be reclassified 
 subsequently to profit or loss:  
 Exchange differences on translation of 
  overseas operations

 
(231) 27     

Total comprehensive income for 
 the year 6,919 4,195
     

Total comprehensive income for 
 the year attributable to:  
Equity holders of the Company 8,819 4,215
Non-controlling interests (1,900) (20)     

6,919 4,195
     

The notes on pages 88 to 172 are an integral part of these 
consolidated financial statements.
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2025 2024

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 19,808 21,712
Investment property 14 3,740 3,910
Trade and other receivables 16 902 –

Financial asset at fair value through 
 profit and loss  17 2,000 1,000     

26,450 26,622     

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 16 123,656 30,377
Contract assets 18 273,125 228,219
Cash, bank balances and pledged 
 deposits  19 92,730 133,962     

489,511 392,558     

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 20 (157,670) (85,673)
Contract liabilities 18 (701) (464)
Borrowings 21 (30,481) (58,505)
Lease liabilities 22 (2,808) (806)
Current tax liabilities (706) (1,585)     

(192,366) (147,033)     

Net current assets 297,145 245,525     

Total assets less current liabilities 323,595 272,147     

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 21 – (2,000)
Lease liabilities 22 (4,862) (521)
Deferred tax liabilities 23 (955) (1,791)     

(5,817) (4,312)     

Net assets 317,778 267,835
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2025 2024

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 24 28,800 12,000
Reserves 25 290,174 255,497     

Equity attributable to equity holders of 
 the Company 318,974 267,497
Non-controlling interests (1,196) 338     

TOTAL EQUITY 317,778 267,835
     

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 
June 2025.

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit Mr. Cheung Chun Fai

Director Director

The notes on pages 88 to 172 are an integral part of these 
consolidated financial statements.
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Share 
capital

Share 
premium*

Translation 
Reserve*

Other 
reserve*

Retained 
earnings* Total

Non-
controlling 

interests Total
 *  *  *  *

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at 1 April 2023 12,000 96,898 – 686 153,698 263,282 – 263,282
Profit for the year – – – – 4,188 4,188 (20) 4,168
Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences on translation of 
 overseas operations – – 27 – – 27 – 27          

Total comprehensive income for 
 the year – – 27 – 4,188 4,215 (20) 4,195          

Transaction with owners:
Capital injection by a non-controlling 
 interest – – – – – – 358 358          

Balance at 31 March 2024 and 
 1 April 2024  12,000 96,898 27 686 157,886 267,497 338 267,835
          

Profit for the year – – – – 9,032 9,032 (1,882) 7,150
Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences on translation of 
 overseas operations – – (213) – – (213) (18) (231)          

Total comprehensive income for 
 the year – – (213) – 9,032 8,819 (1,900) 6,919
          

Placing of shares (note 24) 24 2,400 12,960 – – – 15,360 – 15,360
Issuance of shares under rights issue 
 (note 24)

24
14,400 14,400 – – – 28,800 – 28,800

Transaction costs attributable to placing 
 of shares – (309) – – – (309) – (309)
Transaction costs attributable to rights 
 issue – (1,193) – – – (1,193) – (1,193)
Capital injection by a non-controlling 
 interest – – – – – – 366 366          

Transaction with owners 16,800 25,858 – – – 42,658 366 43,024          

Balance at 31 March 2025
 28,800 122,756 (186) 686 166,918 318,974 (1,196) 317,778

          

* The reserves accounts compr i se the Group’s  reserves of 
HK$290,174,000 (2024: HK$255,497,000) as at 31 March 2025 in 
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The notes on pages 88 to 172 are an integral part of these consolidated 
financial statements.

* 
290,174,000

255,497,000
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2025 2024

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before income tax 10,501 6,794
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 13 11,630 18,449
ECL (reversal)/allowance on:

 
– contract assets, net – 18 (1,711) 3,968
– trade and other receivables, net –   

 16 1,465 (235)
Changes in fair value of investment 
 property 14 170 570
Interest income 6 (955) (1,202)
Finance costs 7 3,448 1,000
Gain on disposal of property, plant and 
 equipment  6 (250) –
Net foreign exchange loss (231) 842     

Operating profit before working capital 
 changes 24,067 30,186
(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other 
 receivables  (94,671) 9,893
Increase in contract assets (43,195) (100,117)
Increase in trade and other payables 71,964 45,450
Increase in contract liabilities 237 365     

Cash used in operations (41,598) (14,223)
Tax paid
– Hong Kong profits tax – (5,019) (12)
– Overseas tax – (47) (15)     

Net cash used in operating activities (46,664) (14,250)     
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2025 2024

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and 
 equipment 13 (2,254) (4,188)
Purchase of financial asset at fair value 
 through profit and loss  17 (1,000) (1,000)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant 
 and equipment  250 –
Purchase of financial asset at amortised 
 cost  – (14,079)
Redemption of financial asset at 
 amortised cost  – 14,079
Interest received 6 955 1,202
Advance from/(Repayment to) a director

 33 (267)
(Decrease)/Increase in pledged bank 
 deposits  23,560 (9,600)     

Net cash from/(used in) investing 
 activities  21,544 (13,853)     

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from bank borrowings 21 26,215 62,150
Repayments of bank borrowings 21 (56,239) (5,633)
Proceed from corporate bond – 2,000
Principal portion of lease payments 22 (2,104) (961)
Proceeds from placing of shares,  
 net of issue costs  24 15,051 –
Proceeds from issuance of shares under 
 rights issue, net of issue costs

 
 24 27,607 –

Capital contribution from a non-
 controlling interest 366 358
Interest paid (3,448) (895)     

Net cash from financing activities 7,448 57,019     

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and 
 cash equivalents  (17,672) 28,916
Cash and cash equivalents at the 
 beginning of the year 99,998 71,082     

Cash and cash equivalents at the end 
 of the year (note 19)  19 82,326 99,998
     

The notes on pages 88 to 172 are an integral part of these 
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 31 March 2025 
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION
Dragon Rise Group Holdings Limited (“the Company”) was 
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company 
with limited liability. The Company’s shares are listed on the 
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 
“Stock Exchange”).

The addresses of the registered office and principal place 
of business of the Company are disclosed in “Corporate 
Information” section to the annual report. As at 31 March 
2025, the directors considered the Company’s immediate 
and ultimate holding company is Fame Circle Limited (“Fame 
Circle”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands 
(the “BVI”) and is wholly owned by Mr. Yip Yuk Kit (“Mr. 
Yip”, Mr. Yip and Fame Circle each being a “Controlling 
Shareholder”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal 
activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 15 
to the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
March 2025 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors 
on 26 June 2025.

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES
2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), 
which collective term includes all applicable individual 
HKFRS accounting standards, Hong Kong Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations (“HKFRS Accounting 
Standards”) and the accounting principles generally 
accepted in Hong Kong.

1. 

Fame Circle Limited
Fame Circle

Fame Circle

15

2.  

2.1 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.  

2.1 

3

4

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

The consolidated financial statements also comply with 
the applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO”) and the applicable 
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the 
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing 
Rules”).

The material accounting policies that have been used 
in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are summarised below. These policies have 
been consistently applied to all the years presented in 
the consolidated financial statements. The adoption 
of new or amended HKFRS Accounting Standards and 
the impacts on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements, if any, are disclosed in note 3.

The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared on the historical cost basis except for 
investment property and financial asset at fair value 
through profit and loss, which are stated at fair value. 
The consolidated financial statements are presented 
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the functional 
currency of the Group, and all values are rounded to the 
nearest thousands (“HK$’000”), except when otherwise 
indicated.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and 
assumptions are used in preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements. Although these estimates are based 
on management’s best knowledge and judgement of 
current events and actions, actual results may ultimately 
differ from those estimates. The areas involving a 
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.  

2.2 

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
31 March 2025 incorporate the financial statements 
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the 
“Group”). The financial statements of the subsidiaries 
are prepared for the same reporting period as the 
Company, using consistent accounting policies.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The 
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed, 
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the entity. When assessing 
whether the Group has power over the entity, only 
substantive rights relating to the entity (held by the 
Group and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a 
subsidiary in the consolidated financial statements from 
the date it gains control until the date when the Group 
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised 
gains and losses on transactions between group 
companies are eliminated in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements. Amounts reported in the financial 
statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting 
policies adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.  

2.2 

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity on a 
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the 
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not 
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those 
interests which would result in the Group as a whole 
having a contractual obligation in respect of those 
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.

Non-control l ing interests are presented in the 
consolidated statement of financial position within 
equity, separately from the equity attributable to the 
owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests in 
the results of the Group are presented on the face of 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total 
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the 
year between non-controlling interests and the owners 
of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, 
subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment loss 
unless the subsidiary is held for sale or included in a 
disposal group. Cost also includes directly attributable 
costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the 
Company on the basis of dividends received and 
receivable at the end of the reporting period. All 
dividends whether received out of the investee’s pre or 
post-acquisition profits are recognised in the Company’s 
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.  

2.3 

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Foreign currency translation
In the individual financial statements of the consolidated 
entities, foreign currency transactions are translated 
into the functional currency of the individual entity 
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of 
the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates 
ruling at that date. Foreign exchange gains and losses 
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and 
from the end of the reporting period retranslation of 
monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or 
loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated 
(i.e. only translated using the exchange rates at the 
transaction date).

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual 
financial statements of foreign operations, originally 
presented in a currency different from the Group’s 
presentation currency, have been converted into HK$. 
Assets and liabilities have been translated into HK$ at 
the closing rates at the end of the reporting period. 
Income and expenses have been converted into the 
HK$ at the exchange rates ruling at the transaction 
dates, or at the average rates over the reporting period 
provided that the exchange rates do not fluctuate 
significantly. Any differences arising from this procedure 
have been recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated separately in the translation reserve in 
equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.  

2.4 

2.8

2.11

20–30%
30%

 
20%

5

2.11

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment (other than right-of-use 
assets) are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses (see note 2.8). Cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the asset. Costs of right-of-use assets are described 
in note 2.11. Depreciation commences when the assets 
are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of assets 
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, 
using the straight-line method, at the following rates 
per annum:

Plant and machinery 20–30%
Motor vehicles 30%
Furniture, fixtures and 
 equipment

20%

Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease term 
or 5 years

Accounting policy for depreciation of right-of-use assets 
is set out in note 2.11.

The assets’ residual values, depreciation methods and 
useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at 
the end of each reporting period.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal 
is determined as the difference between the sales 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is 
recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying 
amount or recognised as a separate asset,  as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part 
is derecognised. All other costs, such as repairs and 
maintenance, are charged to profit or loss during the 
financial period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.  

2.5 

2.6 

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Investment properties
Investment properties are land and buildings which are 
owned or held under a leasehold interest to earn rental 
income and/or for capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment property is measured 
at cost, and subsequently at fair value, unless its fair 
value cannot be reliably determined at that time.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to 
the acquisition of the investment property.

Fair value is determined by external professional valuers, 
with sufficient experience with respect to both the 
location and the nature of the investment property. The 
carrying amounts recognised at the end of the reporting 
period reflect the prevailing market conditions at the 
end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from either changes in the fair 
value or the sale of an investment property are included 
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

2.6 Financial instruments
Recognition and derecognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised 
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual 
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, 
or when the financial asset and substantially all of its 
risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability 
is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, 
cancelled or expires.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.  

2.6 

 

15
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– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets
Classification and initial measurement of 
financial assets
Except for those trade receivables that do not contain 
a significant financing component and are measured 
at the transaction price in accordance with HKFRS 15 
“Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“HKFRS 
15”), all financial assets are initially measured at fair 
value, in case of a financial asset not at fair value 
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), plus transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets 
carried at FVTPL are expensed in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income.

Financial assets, other than those designated and 
effective as hedging instruments, are classified into the 
following categories:

– amortised cost;

– FVTPL; or

– fair value through other comprehensive income.

The classification is determined by both:

– the entity’s business model for managing the 
financial asset; and

– the contractual cash flow characteristics of the 
financial asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that 
are recognised in profit or loss are presented within 
finance costs and “Other gain/(loss), net” except for 
ECL allowance of financial assets which is presented as a 
separate item in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.  

2.6 

– 

– 

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets
Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the 
assets meet the following conditions (and are not 
designated as FVTPL):

– they are held within a business model whose 
objective is to hold the financial assets and collect 
its contractual cash flows; and

– the contractual terms of the financial assets give 
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding.

After init ial recognition, these are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Interest income from these financial assets is included in 
“Other gain/(loss), net” in profit or loss. Discounting is 
omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. 
The Group’s cash, bank balances, pledged deposits and 
trade and other receivables fall into this category of 
financial assets.

Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that are held within a different business 
model other than “hold to collect” or “hold to collect 
and sell’ are categorised at FVTPL. Further, irrespective 
of business model, financial assets whose contractual 
cash flows are not solely payments of principal and 
interest are accounted for at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.  

2.6 

 

2.11

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities
Classification and measurement of financial 
liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities include borrowings, lease 
liabilities and trade and other payables.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially 
measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted 
for transaction costs unless the Group designated a 
financial liability at FVTPL.

Subsequently financial liabilities (other than lease 
liabilities) are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

All interest-related charges reported in profit or loss are 
included within finance costs.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another 
from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated 
as a derecognition of the original liability and the 
recognition of new liability, and the difference in the 
respective carrying amount is recognised in profit or 
loss.

Accounting pol icy of lease l iabi l i t ies is set out 
in note 2.11.

Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of 
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the 
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption 
value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of 
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless as at 
the end of the reporting period, the Group has a right 
to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve 
months after the end of the reporting period.



For the year ended 31 March 2025 

98 DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED     •      2024/25 ANNUAL REPORT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.  

2.6 

2.7  

9
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 – 
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their 
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
using the effective interest method.

2.7 Impairment of financial assets and 
contract assets
The impairment requirements under HKFRS 9 “Financial 
Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”) use forward-looking 
information to recognise ECL – the “ECL model”. 
Instruments within the scope included loans and other 
debt-type financial assets measured at amortised 
cost, trade and other receivables and contract assets 
recognised and measured under HKFRS 15.

The Group considers a broader range of information 
when assess ing credit r isk and measuring ECL, 
including past events, current conditions, reasonable 
and supportable forecasts that affect the expected 
collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction 
is made between:

– financial instruments that have not deteriorated 
s igni f icant ly in credi t qual i ty s ince in i t ia l 
recognition or that have low credit risk (“Stage 1”); 
and

– financial instruments that have deteriorated 
s igni f icant ly in credi t qual i ty s ince in i t ia l 
recognition and whose credit risk is not low 
(“Stage 2”).

“Stage 3” would cover financial assets that have 
objective evidence of impairment at the end of the 
reporting period.

“12-month ECL” are recognised for the Stage 1 
category while “lifetime ECL” are recognised for the 
Stage 2 category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-
weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life 
of the financial instrument.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Impairment of financial assets and 
contract assets (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets
For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group 
applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL and 
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at the 
end of each reporting period. These are the expected 
shortfalls in contractual cash flows, considering the 
potential for default at any point during the life of the 
financial assets. See note 32.4 for further details.

Other financial assets measured at 
amortised cost
The Group measures the loss allowance for other 
receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless when 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime 
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should 
be recognised is based on significant increase in the 
likelihood or risk of default occurring since initial 
recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the Group 
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial 
assets at the end of the reporting period with the risk of 
default occurring on the financial assets at the date of 
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group 
considers both quantitative and qualitative information 
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical 
experience and forward-looking information that is 
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into 
account when assessing whether credit r isk has 
increased significantly:

– an actual or expected significant deterioration in 
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or 
internal credit rating;

– significant deterioration in external market 
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase 
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices 
for the debtor;
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Impairment of financial assets and 
contract assets (continued)

Other financial assets measured at 
amortised cost (continued)

– existing or forecast adverse changes in regulatory, 
business, financial, economic conditions, or 
technological environment that are expected to 
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability 
to meet its debt obligations; and

– an actual or expected significant deterioration in 
the operating results of the debtor.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, 
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition when contractual 
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the 
Group has reasonable and supportable information that 
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the 
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition if the debt 
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the 
end of each reporting period. A debt instrument is 
determined to have low credit risk if it has a low risk of 
default, the borrower has strong capacity to meet its 
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and 
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in 
the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the 
ability of the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash flow 
obligations.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Impairment of financial assets and 
contract assets (continued)

Definition of default
The Group considers the following as constituting an 
event of default for internal credit risk management 
purposes as historical experience indicates that 
receivables that meet either of the following criteria are 
generally not recoverable.

– when there is a breach of financial covenants by 
the counterparty; or

– information developed internally or obtained 
from external sources indicates that the debtor is 
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, 
in full (without taking into account any collaterals 
held by the Group);

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers 
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more 
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable 
and supportable information to demonstrate that a 
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Detailed analysis of ECL assessment of trade receivables, 
contract assets and other financial assets at amortised 
cost are set out in note 32.4.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Impairment of non-financial assets
Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-
use assets) and the Company’s interests in subsidiaries 
are subject to impairment testing. They are tested for 
impairment whenever there are indications that the 
asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense 
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting 
market conditions less costs of disposal, and value in 
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment 
of time value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where 
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely 
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable 
amount is determined for the smallest group of assets 
that generate cash inflows independently (i.e., a cash-
generating unit). As a result, some assets are tested 
individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-
generating unit level. Corporate assets are allocated 
to individual cash-generating units, when a reasonable 
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, 
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group 
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and 
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

The impairment loss is charged pro rata to the assets 
in the cash-generating unit, except that the carrying 
value of an asset will not be reduced below its individual 
fair value less cost of disposal or value in use, if 
determinable.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a 
favourable change in the estimates used to determine 
the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent 
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, 
net of depreciation, if no impairment loss had been 
recognised.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Contract assets and contract liabilities
A contract asset is recognised when the Group 
recognises revenue before being unconditionally entitled 
to the consideration under the payment terms set out 
in the contract. Contract assets are assessed for ECL 
in accordance with the policy set out in note 2.7 and 
are reclassified to receivables when the right to the 
consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays 
consideration before the Group recognises the related 
revenue. A contract liability would also be recognised 
if the Group has an unconditional right to receive 
consideration before the Group recognises the related 
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable 
would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net 
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For 
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities 
of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and 
on hand, demand deposits with banks and short term 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of 
three months or less that are readily convertible into 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value.

2.11 Leases
(a) Definition of a lease and the Group as 

a lessee
At inception of a contract, the Group considers 
whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease 
is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that 
conveys the right to use an identified asset (the 
underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange 
for consideration’.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Leases (continued)

(a) Definition of a lease and the Group as 
a lessee (continued)

To apply this definition, the Group assesses 
whether the contract meets three key evaluations 
which are whether:

• the contracts contains an identified asset, 
which is either explicitly identified in the 
contract or implicitly specified by being 
identified at the time the asset is made 
available to the Group;

• t h e  G r o u p  h a s  t h e  r i g h t  t o  o b t a i n 
substantially all of the economic benefits 
from use of the identified asset throughout 
the period of use, considering its rights 
within the defined scope of the contract; 
and

• the Group has the right to direct the use of 
the identified asset throughout the period 
of use. The Group assess whether it has the 
right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’ 
the asset is used throughout the period of 
use.

For contracts that contains a lease component 
and one or more addit ional lease or non-
lease components, the Group allocates the 
consideration in the contract to each lease and 
non-lease component on the basis of their relative 
stand-alone prices.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Leases (continued)

(a) Definition of a lease and the Group as 
a lessee (continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases 
as a lessee
At lease commencement date, the Group 
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability 
on the consolidated statement of financial 
position. The right-of-use asset is measured at 
cost, which is made up of the initial measurement 
of the lease liability, any initial direct costs 
incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to 
dismantle and remove the underlying asset at the 
end of the lease, and any lease payments made in 
advance of the lease commencement date (net of 
any lease incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a 
straight-line basis from the lease commencement 
date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of 
the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term 
unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain 
ownership at the end of the lease term. The 
Group also assesses the right-of-use asset (except 
for those meeting the definition of investment 
properties) for impairment when such indicator 
exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures 
the lease liability at the present value of the lease 
payments unpaid at that date, discounted using 
the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that 
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s 
incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of 
the lease liability are made up of fixed payments.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Leases (continued)

(a) Definition of a lease and the Group as 
a lessee (continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases 
as a lessee (continued)

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability 
will be reduced for lease payments made and 
increased for interest cost on the lease liability. 
It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or 
lease modification, or if there are changes in in-
substance fixed payments.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding 
adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or 
profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already 
reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term 
leases using the practical expedients. Instead of 
recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability, 
the payments in relation to these leases are 
recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. Short-term 
leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months 
or less.

On the consolidated statement of financial 
position, right-of-use assets have been included in 
“Property, plant and equipment”.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for 
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. 
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition 
are considered as additional lease payments and 
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

(b) The Group as a lessor
As a lessor, the Group classifies its leases as either 
operating or finance leases.

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of the underlying asset, and classified 
as an operating lease if it does not.

The Group also earns rental income from 
operating leases of its investment property. Rental 
income is recognised on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the lease.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can 
be made. Where the time value of money is material, 
provisions are stated at the present value of the 
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a 
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of 
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose 
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or 
non-occurrence of one or more future uncertain events 
not wholly within the control of the Group, are also 
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability 
of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

An onerous contract exists when the Group has a 
contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting 
the obligations under the contract exceed the economic 
benefits expected to be received from the contract. 
Provisions for onerous contracts are measured at the 
present value of the lower of the expected cost of 
terminating the contract and the net cost of fulfilling the 
contract (which includes both incremental costs and an 
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling 
that contract).

2.13 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital 
is determined using the nominal value of shares that 
have been issued. Any transaction costs associated with 
the issuing of shares (net of any related income tax 
benefit) to the extent they are incremental costs directly 
attributable to the equity transaction are deducted from 
share premium.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Revenue recognition
Revenue arises mainly from the contracts for the 
construction services and sales of construction materials.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group 
follows a 5-step process:

1. Identifying the contract with a customer

2. Identifying the performance obligations

3. Determining the transaction price

4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance 
obligations

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance 
obligation(s) are satisfied

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is 
allocated amongst the various performance obligations 
based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. The 
transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts 
collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over 
time, when (or as) the Group satisfies performance 
obligations by transferring the promised goods or 
services to its customers.

Where the contract contains a financing component 
which provides a significant financing benefit to 
the customer for more than 12 months, revenue is 
measured at the present value of the amount receivable, 
discounted using the discount rate that would be 
reflected in a separate financing transaction with the 
customer, and interest income is accrued separately 
under the effective interest method. Where the contract 
contains a financing component which provides a 
significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue 
recognised under that contract includes the interest 
expense accreted on the contract liability under the 
effective interest method.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Revenue recognition (continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income 
recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Construction contracts
Revenue f rom const ruct ion contracts are 
recognised over time as the Group’s performance 
creates and enhances an asset that the customer 
controls which referred as the designated areas 
where the construction work services performed. 
The progress towards complete satisfaction of 
a performance obligation is measured based on 
output method, which is to recognise revenue 
on the basis of direct measurements of the value 
of the services transferred to the customer to 
date relative to the remaining services promised 
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s 
performance in transferring control of services. 
The value of the services transferred to customer 
to date is measured according to the progress 
certificate (by reference to the construction works 
certified by the customers or their agents).

Contract costs are recognised when incurred. 
When the outcome of a construction contract 
cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is 
recognised only to the extent of contract costs 
incurred that are likely to be recoverable.

(ii) Sales of construction materials
Revenue from the sales of construction materials 
is recognised at the point in time when control of 
the asset is transferred to the customers, generally 
on delivery of the construction materials.

(iii) Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion 
basis using the effective interest method. For 
financial assets measured at amortised cost that 
are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate 
is applied to the gross carrying amount of the 
asset.

(iv) Rental income
Accounting policies for rental income are set out 
in note 2.11.

(v) Consultancy income
Service income of consultancy service is recognised 
at a point in time when the service is provided.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.15 Employee benefits
Retirement benefits
Retirement benefits to employees are provided through 
defined contribution plans. In addition, the employees 
employed under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance 
are also entitled to long service payment (“LSP”) if the 
eligibility criteria are met. The LSP are defined benefits 
plans.

Defined contribution plans
The Group operates a defined contribution retirement 
benefit plan under the Mandatory Provident Fund 
Schemes Ordinance, for all of its employees who are 
eligible to participate in the Mandatory Provident Fund 
(“MPF”) Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held 
separately from those of the Group in funds under the 
control of independent trustees. The minimum monthly 
contribution is made at the lower of (i) HK$1,500; or 
(ii) 5% of the relevant monthly payroll costs to the MPF 
Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or 
loss as employees render services during the year. The 
Group’s obligations under these plans are limited to the 
fixed percentage contributions payable.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.15 Employee benefits (continued)

Retirement benefits (continued)

Short-term employee benefits
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised 
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made 
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of 
services rendered by employees up to the end of the 
reporting period.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick 
leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the 
time of leave.

2.16 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in which 
they are incurred.

2.17 Accounting for income taxes
Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise 
those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities 
relating to the current or prior reporting period, that 
are unpaid at the end of the reporting period. They 
are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws 
applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, 
based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes 
to current tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a 
component of tax expense in profit or loss.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on 
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
in the consolidated financial statements and their 
respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally 
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences, tax losses available to be carried 
forward as well as other unused tax credits, to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profit, including 
existing taxable temporary differences, will be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences, 
unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if 
the temporary difference arises from initial recognition 
(other than in a business combination) of assets and 
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither taxable nor 
accounting profit or loss and does not give rise to equal 
taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable 
temporary differences arising on investments in 
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control 
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is 
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse 
in the foreseeable future.

For investment property measured using the fair value 
model in accordance with the accounting policy above, 
the measurement of the related deferred tax liability 
or asset reflects the tax consequences of recovering 
the carrying amount of the investment property 
entirely through sale, unless the investment property is 
depreciable and is held within a business model whose 
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic 
benefits embodied in the investment property over time, 
rather than through sale.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are 
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies 
the requirements in HKAS 12 to the lease liabilities and 
the related assets separately. The Group recognises 
a deferred tax asset related to the lease liabilities to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 
be available against which the deductible temporary 
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for 
all taxable temporary differences.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax 
rates that are expected to apply in the period the liability 
is settled or the asset realised, provided they are enacted 
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting 
period.

Changes in deferred tax assets or l iabi l it ies are 
recognised in profit or loss, or in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity if they relate to items that 
are charged or credited to other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of 
taxable income, deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
measured using the average tax rates that are expected 
to apply to the taxable income of the periods in which 
the temporary differences are expected to reverse.

The determination of the average tax rates requires 
an estimation of (1) when the existing temporary 
differences will reverse and (2) the amount of future 
taxable profit in those years. The estimate of future 
taxable profit includes:

– income or loss excluding reversals of temporary 
differences; and

– reversals of existing temporary differences.

Current tax assets and current tax l iabil it ies are 
presented in net if, and only if,

(a) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set 
off the recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax 
liabilities in net if, and only if,

(a) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Accounting for income taxes (continued)

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax 
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority on either:

(i) the same taxable entity; or

(ii) different taxable entities which intend either 
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on 
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle 
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future 
period in which significant amounts of 
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected 
to be settled or recovered.

2.18 Segment reporting
The Group identifies operating segments and prepares 
segment information based on the regular internal 
financial information reported to the chief operating 
decision maker (the “CODM”) for their decisions 
about resources allocation to the Group’s business 
components and for their review of the performance of 
those components.

2.19 Related parties
For the purposes of the consol idated f inancia l 
statements, a party is considered to be related to the 
Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that 
person’s family and if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over of the 
Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) i s a member of the key management 
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the 
Group.
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2.  

2.19 
(b) 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

(iv) 

(v) 

(vi) ( a )

(vii) (a)(i)

(viii) 

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following 
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of 
the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture 
of the other entity (or an associate or joint 
venture of a member of a group of which 
the other entity is a member);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures 
of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity 
and the other entity is an associate of the 
third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan 
for the benefit of employees of either the 
Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled 
by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant 
influence over the entity or is a member of 
the key management personnel of the entity 
(or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of 
which it is a party, provides key management 
personnel services to the Group or to the 
parent of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family 
members who may be expected to influence, or be 
influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the 
entity.
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3. 

(i) 

 16  
1

  
 5
 
 

1
  

7
 
 7

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED 
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(i) Amended HKFRS Accounting Standards 

that are effective for annual periods 
beginning on 1 April 2024 

In the current year, the Group has applied for the 
first time the following amended HKFRS Accounting 
Standards issued by the HKICPA effective for the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the annual 
period beginning on 1 April 2024:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or 
 Non-current and related amendments 
 to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7 
 and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The adoption of the amended HKFRS Accounting 
Standards had no material impact on how the results 
and financial position of the Group for the current and 
prior periods have been prepared and presented.
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3. 

(ii) 
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED 
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

(ii) Issued but not yet effective HKFRS 
Accounting Standards
At the date of authorisation of these consolidated 
financial statements, certain new and amended HKFRS 
Accounting Standards have been published but are not 
yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the 
Group.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial 
 Statements3

HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public 
 Accountability: Disclosures3

Amendments to HKFRS 9 
 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to the Classification and 
 Measurement of Financial Instruments2

Amendments to HKFRS 9 
 and HKFRS 7

Contacts Referencing Nature-dependent 
 Electricity2

Amendments to HKFRS 10 
 and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between 
 an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
 Venture4

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability1

Amendments to HKFRS 
 Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements to HKFRS 
 Accounting Standards – Volume 112

Amendments to Hong 
 Kong Interpretation 5

Presentation of Financial Statements – 
 Classification by the Borrower of a 
 Term Loan that Contains a Repayment 
 on Demand Clause3

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2026

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2027

4 Effective date not yet determined
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3. 

(iii) 
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED 
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

(ii) Issued but not yet effective HKFRS 
Accounting Standards (continued)

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements 
will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for the 
first period beginning on or after the effective date of 
the pronouncement. Information on new and amended 
HKFRS Accounting Standards that are expected to have 
impact on the Group’s accounting policies is provided 
below. Other new and amended HKFRS Accounting 
Standards are not expected to have a material impact 
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure 
in Financial Statements” and related 
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 
5
HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial 
Statements”. It carries forward many of the existing 
requirements in HKAS 1, with limited changes, and 
some HKAS 1 requirements will be moved to HKAS 8 
“Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 
and Errors” and HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures”.

HKFRS 18 wi l l  not impact the recognit ion and 
measurement of financial statements items but the 
presentation of them. It introduces three major new 
requirements, including:

• reporting newly defined subtotals (namely 
“operating profits” and “profits before financing 
and income tax”), and classifying items into five 
newly defined categories (namely “operating”, 
“investing”, “financing”, “income tax” and 
“discontinued operation”), depending on the 
reporting entity’s main business activities, in the 
statement of profit or loss;

• Disclosure of management-defined performance 
measures (“MPMs”) in a single note to the 
financial statements; and

• enhanced gu idance  o f  agg rega t i on  and 
disaggregation of information in the financial 
statements.
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(iii) 

18

5
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• 

• 

18

18

MPM

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED 
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

(ii) Issued but not yet effective HKFRS 
Accounting Standards (continued)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure 
in Financial Statements” and related 
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 
5 (continued)

Besides, narrow-scope amendments have been made to 
HKAS 7 “Statement of Cash Flows”, which includes:

• using “operating profit or loss” as the starting 
point for indirect method for the presentation of 
operating cash flows purposes; and

• the option for classifying interest and dividend 
cash flows as operating activities is eliminated.

In addition, there are consequential amendments to 
several other standards.

HKFRS 18, and the amendments to the other HKFRS 
Accounting Standards, are effective for annual period 
beginning on or after 1 January 2027 and must be 
applied retrospectively with specific transition provisions. 
The directors of the Group are still in the process of 
assessing the impact of HKFRS 18, particularly with 
respect to the structure of the Group’s consolidated 
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement 
of cash flows and the additional disclosures required for 
MPMs. The Group is also assessing the impact of how 
information is grouped in the consolidated financial 
statements.
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED 
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

(ii) Issued but not yet effective HKFRS 
Accounting Standards (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 
“Amendments to the Classification and 
Measurement of Financial Instruments”
The major changes in amendments to HKFRS 9 and 
HKFRS 7 are summarised as follows:

• clarified the date of recognition and derecognition 
of some financial assets and liabilities, with a 
new exception for some financial liabilities settled 
through an electronic cash transfer system;

• c la r i f ied and added fur ther gu idance for 
assessing whether a financial asset meets the 
solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) 
criterion;

• added new disclosures for certain instruments 
with contractual terms that can change cash flows 
(e.g. some financial instruments with features 
linked to the achievement of environment, social 
and governance targets); and

• updated the disclosures for equity instruments 
designated at FVOCI.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026 and are 
applied retrospectively with an adjustment to opening 
retained earnings. The amendments that relate to 
the classification of financial assets as well as the 
related disclosures can be early adopted and the other 
amendments can be applied later. The directors of the 
Group expect that the amendments have no material 
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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(a) 
9

2.7 32.4

122,753,000
1,492,000

29,498,000
27,000

273,125,000
3,790,000

228,219,000

5,501,000

16 18

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGEMENTS
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the 
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
with the next financial year are discussed below:

(a) Key sources of estimation uncertainties
Estimation of impairment of trade and 
other receivables measured at amortised 
costs and contract assets within the scope 
of ECL under HKFRS 9
The Group makes allowances on items subjects to ECL 
(including trade and other receivables and contract 
assets) based on assumptions about risk of default 
and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in 
making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to 
the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past 
history, existing market conditions as well as forward-
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period 
as set out in notes 2.7 and 32.4. As at 31 March 2025, 
the carrying amounts of trade and other receivables 
measured at amortised costs and contract assets 
amounted to HK$122,753,000 (net of ECL allowance of 
HK$1,492,000) (31 March 2024: HK$29,498,000 (net 
of ECL allowance of HK$27,000)) and HK$273,125,000 
(net of ECL allowance of HK$3,790,000) (31 March 
2024: HK$228,219,000 (net of ECL allowance of 
HK$5,501,000)) respectively. Details of the trade and 
other receivables and contract assets are disclosed in 
notes 16 and 18 respectively.
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4.  

(a)  

 

19,808,000
21,712,000

13

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(a) Key sources of estimation uncertainties 
(continued)

Impairment assessment of items of 
property, plant and equipment
Management estimates the recoverable amount 
of items of property, plant and equipment when 
an indication of impairment exists. This requires an 
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating 
units. Estimating the value in use requires management 
to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows 
from the cash-generating unit and also to choose a 
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present 
value of those cash flows. Changing the assumptions 
selected by management to determine the level of 
impairment, including the discount rates or the growth 
rate assumptions in the cash flow projections, could 
materially affect the net present value used in the 
impairment test. The carrying amount of property, 
plant and equipment as at 31 March 2025 was 
HK$19,808,000 (2024: HK$21,712,000). Based on 
the impairment assessment of the management, no 
impairment of property, plant and equipment was 
made for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024. 
Further details are set out in note 13 to the consolidated 
financial statements.
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5. 
5.1 

1

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
5.1 Revenue

The Group’s principal activities are disclosed in note 1 of 
the consolidated financial statements.

Revenue recognised for the years ended 31 March 2025 
and 2024 are as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Revenue from contracts with 
 customers within the scope of 
 HKFRS 15

15
 

Contracting revenue 1,222,588 911,778
Sales of construction materials 91,548 34,074    

1,314,136 945,852
    

Timing of revenue recognition under 
 HKFRS 15

15
 

Services transferred over time 1,222,588 911,778
Good transferred at a point in time 91,548 34,074    

1,314,136 945,852
    

Contracting revenue
Revenue from construction contracts are recognised over 
time as the Group’s performance creates and enhances 
an asset that the customer controls which referred 
as the designated areas where the construction work 
services performed. The progress towards complete 
satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured 
based on output method, which is to recognise revenue 
on the basis of direct measurements of the value of the 
services transferred to the customer to date relative to 
the remaining services promised under the contract.

Sales of construction materials
Revenue from sales of construction materials are 
recognised at a point in time when the Group transfers 
control of the goods to the customer.
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5.  

5.2 

10%

1 

2 
10%

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 
(continued)

5.2 Segment information
The CODM has been identified as the executive directors 
of the Company. The CODM regard the Group’s 
business as a single operating segment and review the 
overall results of the Group as a whole to make decision 
about resources allocation. Accordingly, no segment 
analysis information is presented.

Geographical information
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue by 
the geographical locations of customers:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Hong Kong  1,222,588 911,778
Mainland China 91,548 34,074    

1,314,136 945,852
    

Since majority of the Group’s non-current assets were 
located in Hong Kong, no separate analysis of segment 
information in non-current assets is presented.

Information about major customers
Revenue from customers which individually contributed 
over 10% of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Customer A1 A1 406,641 333,580
Customer B1 B1 367,011 N/A 2 2

Customer C1 C1 304,952 N/A2 2

Customer D1 D1 N/A2 2 382,183
    

1 The customer represents a collection of companies 
within a group.

2 The corresponding revenue did not individual ly 
contribute over 10% of the Group’s revenue during the 
year.
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6. 

7. 

6. OTHER GAIN/(LOSS), NET

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Net losses from changes in fair value on 
 investment property (note 14)

 
14 (170) (570)

Consultancy fee income 1,375 –

Rental income 156 156
Interest income 955 1,457
Net foreign exchange loss (353) (978)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and 
 equipment

 
250 –

Others 15 (242)    

2,228 (177)
    

7. FINANCE COSTS

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Interests on borrowings 3,183 921
Finance charges on lease liabilities 265 79    

3,448 1,000
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8. 8. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Profit before tax is stated after charging:
(a) Staff costs (including directors’ 

remuneration (note 12(a))
(a) 

12(a)
–  Salaries, wages, bonus and other  

 benefits

–  
182,837 136,383

–  Retirement scheme contributions  
 (note a)

–   
a 4,725 3,651    

Staff costs (including directors’ 
 remuneration) (note b)  b 187,562 140,034

    

(b) Other items (b) 
Depreciation, included in:
Direct costs
– Owned assets – 9,018 17,196
Administrative expenses
– Owned assets – – 200
– Right-of-use assets – 2,612 1,053    

11,630 18,449
    

Lease charges:
– Short term lease of office – 97 155
– Short term lease of machinery – 22,946 24,091    

Total lease charges 23,043 24,246
    

Subcontracting charges (included in direct 
 costs)  209,850 156,750
Cost of sales of construction materials 
 (included in direct costs)  85,569 32,934
Outgoings in respect of investment 
 property 30 18
Auditor’s remuneration 1,328 1,204
(Reversal)/provision of ECL allowance on 
 trade and other receivables and 
 contract assets, net

 
 
 (246) 3,733

Donation – 48
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8. 

(a) 

(b) 

9. 

 

(a) 2
8.25%

2 16.5%

16.5%

(b) 

8. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX (continued)

Notes:

(a) During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, there 
were no contributions forfeited by the Group on behalf of 
its employees who left the plan prior to vesting fully in such 
contribution, nor had there been any utilization of such 
forfeited contributions to reduce future contributions. As at 
31 March 2025 and 2024, no forfeited contributions were 
available for utilization by the Group to reduce the existing 
level of contributions.

(b) Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) are as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Direct costs 167,302 125,208
Administrative expenses 20,260 14,826    

187,562 140,034
    

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Current tax:
Hong Kong profit tax (note a) ( a) 3,998 1,590
Overseas tax (note b) ( b) 189 22
Deferred tax (note 22) 22 (836) 1,014    

Income tax expense for the year 3,351 2,626
    

Notes:

(a) Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 
million of profits of qualifying entities will be taxed at 8.25%, 
and the profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The 
profits of entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax 
rates regime will continue to be taxed at 16.5%. For the years 
ended 31 March 2024 and 2025, Hong Kong profits tax of a 
subsidiary of the Company is calculated in accordance with the 
two-tiered profits tax rate regime.

(b) Taxation on overseas profit has been calculated on the 
assessable profit for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing 
in the country in which the Group operates.
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9. 

10. 

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit 
before income tax per consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Profit before income tax 10,501 6,794
    

Tax at Hong Kong profits tax rates of 16.5% 
 (2024: 16.5%)

16.5%
 16.5%
 1,733 1,121

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 2,064 1,901
Tax effect of non-taxable income (261) (236)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised – 64
Tax effect of different tax rates of overseas 
 operations  46 (53)
Tax effect of two-tiered profit tax regime (165) (165)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not 
 recognised (23) –

Others (43) (6)    

Income tax expense for the year 3,351 2,626
    

10. DIVIDENDS
No dividend was paid or proposed for the years ended 31 
March 2025 and 2024, nor has any dividend been proposed 
since the end of the reporting period.
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11. 

24

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to 
equity holders of the Company is based on the following:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Earnings
Profit for the year attributable to equity 
 holders of the Company  9,032 4,188
    

‘000 ‘000

(Restated)

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
 (note 24)  24 226,658 177,662
    

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the 
purpose of earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 
2024 has been adjusted and restated for the effect of share 
consolidation and rights issue. Details as set out in note 24.

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares during the 
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 and therefore, diluted 
earnings per share equals to basic earnings per share.
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12. 
 

(a)  

383(1)

2

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 
INDIVIDUALS
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s 

emoluments
Emoluments of the directors and chief executive 
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1) 
of the CO and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of 
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as 
follows:

Fees

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits
Discretionary 

bonuses

Retirement 
scheme 

contributions Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 March 2025
 

Executive directors:
Mr. Yip – 794 66 – 860
Mr. Cheung Chun Fai – 1,110 94 18 1,222

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Chan Ka Yu 135 – – – 135
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun 180 – – – 180
Mr. Chan Wa Shing 180 – – – 180
Mr. Ding Xin 55 – – – 55       

550 1,904 160 18 2,632
       

Year ended 31 March 2024
 

Executive directors:
Mr. Yip – 794 66 – 860
Mr. Cheung Chun Fai – 1,114 94 18 1,226

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Chan Ka Yu 180 – – – 180
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun 180 – – – 180
Mr. Chan Wa Shing 180 – – – 180       

540 1,908 160 18 2,626
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(a)  

(b) 

12(a)

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 
INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s 
emoluments (continued)

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no 
emoluments were paid by the Group to the above 
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the 
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

There were no arrangements under which a director 
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the 
year (2024: Nil).

(b) Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the 
highest in the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 
included two (2024: two) directors whose emoluments 
are disclosed in note 12(a). The aggregate emoluments 
in respect of the remaining three (2024: three) 
individuals are as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Salaries, fee and allowances 2,730 2,747
Discretionary bonuses 232 232
Retirement scheme contributions 54 54    

3,016 3,033
    

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals

2025 2024

    

Emolument bands:
Nil – HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 2 2
HK$1,000,001 – HK$1,500,000 1,000,001

 1,500,000 1 1
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13. 13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

equipment
Plant and 

machinery Motor vehicles
Right-of-use 

assets 
Leasehold 

improvement Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost
As at 1 April 2023 1,161 162,188 9,522 1,773 240 174,884
Additions – 3,952 236 794 – 4,982        

As at 31 March 2024 and 
 1 April 2024  1,161 166,140 9,758 2,567 240 179,866
Additions – 919 360 8,447 – 9,726
Write-off – – (2,608) – – (2,608)
Disposal – – (2,012) – – (2,012)
Termination of lease – – – (1,773) – (1,773)        

As at 31 March 2025 1,161 167,059 5,498 9,241 240 183,199        

Accumulated depreciation
As at 1 April 2023 (1,161) (129,200) (9,009) (295) (40) (139,705)
Charge for the year – (16,649) (547) (1,053) (200) (18,449)        

As at 31 March 2024 and 
 1 April 2024  (1,161) (145,849) (9,556) (1,348) (240) (158,154)
Charge for the year – (8,905) (113) (2,612) – (11,630)
Depreciation written back 
 upon write-off – – 2,608 – – 2,608
Disposal – – 2,012 – – 2,012
Termination of lease – – – 1,773 – 1,773        

As at 31 March 2025 (1,161) (154,754) (5,049) (2,187) (240) (163,391)
        

Net book value
As at 31 March 2025 – 12,305 449 7,054 – 19,808
        

As at 31 March 2024 – 20,291 202 1,219 – 21,712
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13.  

6,720,000 334,000
649,000 570,000

14. 

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
(continued)

Note:

The Group has obtained the right to use office premises through the 
tenancy agreements. These leases typically run on an initial period 
of two to three years. The Group makes fixed payments during the 
contract period.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of the Group’s right-of-
use assets in relation to the office premise and motor vehicle are 
HK$6,720,000 and HK$334,000 respectively (2024: HK$649,000 and 
HK$570,000).

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY
Movements of the carrying amounts presented in the 
consol idated statement of f inancial posit ion can be 
summarised as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Carrying amount as at 1 April 3,910 4,480
Changes in fair value of investment property 
 recognised in profit or loss  (170) (570)    

Carrying amount as at 31 March 3,740 3,910
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14. 
 

 

 

 

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

Fair value measurement of investment 
property
The following table shows the Group’s investment property 
measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of 
financial position on a recurring basis, categorised into three 
levels of a fair value hierarchy. The levels are based on the 
observability and significance of inputs to the measurements, 
as follows:

Level 1:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included within 
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly, and not using 
significant unobservable inputs.

Level 3:  significant unobservable inputs for the asset or 
liability.

2025 2024

Level 3 Level 3

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Recurring fair value measurement
Investment property:
Residential property in Hong Kong 3,740 3,910
    

There have been no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the 
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

The investment property was revalued by an independent 
qualified valuer as at 31 March 2025 and 2024, who have 
the relevant experience in the location and category of 
property being valued. There was no change to the valuation 
techniques during the year.
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14. 
 

3,910,000
21

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

Fair value measurement of investment 
property (continued)

Set out below are information about the fair value of 
investment property categorised under Level 3 fair value 
hierarchy:

Range of unobservable input

Valuation 
technique Unobservable input

31 March 
2025

31 March 
2024

Investment property:

– Residential property Income 
 capitalisation 
 approach

Market yearly rental rate taking 
 into account of individual 
 factors such as location, 
 environment, age, 
 accessibility, floor, size, etc.

HK$450 per 
square feet

HK$450 per 
square feet

– 
 
 

450 450

Capitalisation rate of 
 reversionary income

4.3% 3.9%

4.3% 3.9%

The fair value of the residential investment property in Hong 
Kong are determined using income capitalisation approach by 
capitalisation of future rental, which largely use unobservable 
inputs (e.g. market yearly rental rate, capitalisation rate, 
etc.) and taking into account the significant adjustment on 
term yield to account for the risk upon reversionary. In the 
valuation, the capitalisation rate adopted is by reference to 
the yield rates observed by the valuer for similar properties 
in the locality and adjusted for the valuer’s knowledge of 
factors specific to the respective properties. The fair value 
measurement is positively correlated to the future rental and 
negatively correlated to the capitalisation rate.

Fair value adjustment of the investment property is recognised 
in the line item ‘Other gain/(loss), net’ in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The Group’s borrowings and banking facilities are secured 
by the investment property with carrying amount of 
HK$3,910,000 as at 31 March 2024 (note 21).
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15. 15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025 
and 2024 are as follows:

Company name

Place of 
incorporation/
establishment 
and operation

Type of legal 
entity

Issued and 
paid up 

capital/registered 
capital

Equity interest 
attributable to the Group Principal activities

2025 2024

Directly held

Richer Ventures Limited The BVI Limited liability 
 company

350,000 ordinary 
shares of US$1

100% 100% Investment holding

Richer Ventures Limited 350,000
1

100% 100%

Top Growth Ventures Limited The BVI Limited liability 
 company

50,000 ordinary 
shares of US$1

100% 100% Investment holding

Top Growth Ventures Limited 50,000
1

100% 100%

Able Standard Enterprise Limited 
 (note (a))

The BVI Limited liability 
 company

1 ordinary shares of 
US$1

100% 100% Investment holding

Able Standard Enterprise Limited
 (a)

1
1

100% 100%

Treasure Apex Enterprise Limited 
 (note (b))

The BVI Limited liability 
 company

1 ordinary shares of 
US$1

100% 100% Investment holding

Treasure Apex Enterprise Limited
 (b)

1
1

100% 100%

Vast Perfect Enterprise Limited 
 (note (b))

The BVI Limited liability 
 company

1 ordinary shares of 
US$1

100% 100% Investment holding

Vast Perfect Enterprise Limited
 (b)

1
1

100% 100%

Essential Quality Enterprises Limited 
 (note (c))

The BVI Limited liability 
 company

1 ordinary shares of 
US$1

100% 100% Investment holding

Essential Quality Enterprises Limited
 (c)

1
1

100% 100%
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15. 

Company name

Place of 
incorporation/
establishment 
and operation

Type of legal 
entity

Issued and 
paid up 

capital/registered 
capital

Equity interest 
attributable to the Group Principal activities

2025 2024

Indirectly held

Kit Kee Engineering Limited Hong Kong Limited liability 
 company

300,000 ordinary 
shares

100% 100% Undertaking foundation 
 works in Hong Kong

300,000 100% 100%

Dragon Rise Asia Limited Hong Kong Limited liability 
 company

10,000 ordinary shares 100% 100% Trading of construction 
 material and 
 investment holding

10,000 100% 100%
 

Dragon Rise Construction Technology 
 Limited (note (d))

Hong Kong Limited liability 
 company

10,000 ordinary shares 100% 100% Investment holding

(d) 10,000 100% 100%

Dragon Rise Investment Limited Hong Kong Limited liability 
 company

10,000 ordinary shares 100% 100% Investment holding

10,000 100% 100%

Dragon Rise New Energy Holdings 
 Limited (note (e))

Hong Kong Limited liability 
 company

10,000,000 ordinary 
shares

51% 51% Investment holding

(e) 10,000,000 51% 51%

Dragon Rise New Energy (HK) Limited 
 (note (f))

Hong Kong Limited liability 
 company

10,000,000 ordinary 
shares

51% 51% Inactive

(f) 10,000,000 51% 51%

Ocean Summit Credit Limited 
 (note (g))

Hong Kong Limited liability 
 company

10,000 ordinary shares 100% 100% Inactive

(g) 10,000 100% 100%

15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
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15. 

Company name

Place of 
incorporation/
establishment 
and operation

Type of legal 
entity

Issued and 
paid up 

capital/registered 
capital

Equity interest 
attributable to the Group Principal activities

2025 2024

Dragon Rise IOT Company Limited 
 (note (h))

Hong Kong Limited liability 
 company

100 ordinary shares 51% – Inactive

(h) 100 51% –

Dragon Rise Auto Services Limited 
 (note (i))

Hong Kong Limited liability 
 company

100 ordinary shares 51% – Inactive

(i) 100 51% –

Guangdong Dragon Rise Investment 
 Limited

The People’s 
 Republic of 
 China (“PRC”)

Limited liability 
 company

Registered capital of 
RMB 5,000,000

100% 100% Investment holding

 
5,000,000 100% 100%

Guangdong Dragon Rise Trade 
 Development Limited

The PRC Limited liability 
 company

Registered capital of 
RMB 10,000,000

100% 100% Trading of construction 
 material and 
 investment holding

10,000,000 100% 100%
 

Guangdong Dragon Rise Intelligent 
 Construction Limited (note (j))

The PRC Limited liability 
 company

Registered capital of 
RMB 5,000,000

100% – Inactive

(j) 5,000,000 100% –

Dragon Rise Top New Energy 
 (Shenzhen) Limited (note (k))

The PRC Limited liability 
 company

Registered capital of 
RMB 1,000,000

51% – Inactive

(k) 1,000,000 51% –

15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)



For the year ended 31 March 2025 

2024/25 年報     •      龍昇集團控股有限公司 139

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. 

Company name

Place of 
incorporation/
establishment 
and operation

Type of legal 
entity

Issued and 
paid up 

capital/registered 
capital

Equity interest 
attributable to the Group Principal activities

2025 2024

Yunnan FTZ Longzheng Industry 
 Limited (note (l))

The PRC Limited liability 
 company

Registered capital of 
 RMB 3,350,000

67% 67% Trading of construction 
 material

 (l)
3,350,000 67% 67%

Guangdong Longfei Trade Limited 
 (note (a) & (n))

The PRC Limited liability 
 company

Registered capital of 
RMB 13,400,000

67% 67% Trading of construction 
 material

(a)&(n) 13,400,000 67% 67%

Guangdong Longyu Trade Limited 
 (note (b) & (n))

The PRC Limited liability 
 company

Registered capital of 
RMB 6,700,000

67% 67% Trading of construction 
 material

(b)&(n) 6,700,000 67% 67%

Guangdong Longyu Engineering 
 Limited (note (o) & (n))

The PRC Limited liability 
 company

Registered capital of 
RMB 6,700,000

67% 67% Inactive

(o)&(n) 6,700,000 67% 67%

15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
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15. 

(a) 

(b) 

(c) Essential Quality Enterprises Limited

(d) 

(e) 
51%

(f) 

(g) 

(h) 

(i) 

(j) 

(k) 

(l) 

(m) 

(n) 

15. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes:

(a) Guangdong Longyu Trade Limited was established and 
incorporated on 11 December 2023 in PRC.

(b) Guangdong Longyu Engineering Limited was established and 
incorporated on 25 December 2023 in PRC.

(c) Essential Quality Enterprises Limited was established and 
incorporated on 28 November 2023 in the BVI.

(d) Dragon Rise Construction Technology Limited was established 
and incorporated on 6 February 2024 in Hong Kong.

(e) The Group acquired 51% equity interest of Dragon Rise New 
Energy Holdings Limited on 27 November 2023.

(f) Dragon Rise New Energy (HK) Limited was established and 
incorporated on 27 November 2024 in Hong Kong.

(g) The Group acquired the entire equity interest of Ocean Summit 
Credit Limited on 11 July 2024 in Hong Kong.

(h) Dragon Rise IOT Company Limited was established and 
incorporated on 27 September 2024 in the Hong Kong.

(i) Dragon Rise Auto Services Limited was established and 
incorporated on 27 September 2024 in the Hong Kong.

(j) Guangdong Dragon Rise Intelligent Construction Limited was 
established and incorporated on 21 June 2024 in the PRC.

(k) Dragon Rise Top New Energy (Shenzhen) Co., Limited was 
established and incorporated on 26 February 2025 in the PRC.

(l) Yunnan FTZ Longzheng Industry Limited was established and 
incorporated on 14 November 2023 in the PRC.

(m) Guangdong Longfei Trade Limited was established and 
incorporated on 31 August 2023 in the PRC.

(n) The English names of the PRC companies refer to in this 
note represents management’s best efforts in translating the 
Chinese names of those companies as no English names have 
been registered or available.
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16. 16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2025 2024

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Trade receivables
– from third parties – (a) 62,559 28,753
Less: ECL allowance, net

 (314) (27)     

62,245 28,726
Deposit, prepayment and other 
 receivables  
Other receivables 529 480
Performance deposits (note i) i 60,000 –

Prepayment (note ii) ii 1,805 879
Utility and other deposits 1,047 182
Amount due from the ultimate 
 holding company (b) 110 110     

63,491 1,651
Less: ECL allowance, net (1,178) –     

62,313 1,651     

124,558 30,377
     

Representing:
Non-current assets 902 –

Current assets 123,656 30,377     

124,558 30,377
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16. 

(i) 

(ii) 

236,000 975,000
408,000

28 90
28 90

32.4

1,492,000
27,000

(a) 

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Note:

(i) The amount was paid to a Group’s customer as security for the 
due performance and observance of the Group’s obligations 
under the contract entered into between the Group and the 
customer.

(ii) Prepayment of HK$236,000 and HK$975,000 was made for 
purchasing materials and property, plant and equipment as at 
31 March 2025 (2024: HK$408,000 and nil).

The directors of the Company consider that the fair values of trade 
and other receivables which are expected to be recovered within one 
year are not materially different from their carrying amounts, because 
their balances have short maturity periods on their inception.

The Group usually provides customers with a credit term of 28 to 90 
days (2024: 28 to 90 days). For the settlement of trade receivables 
from provision of construction services, the Group usually reaches 
an agreement on the term of each payment with the customer by 
taking into account of factors such as, among other things, the credit 
history of the customer, its liquidity position and the Group’s working 
capital needs, which varies on a case-by-case basis that requires the 
judgement and experience of the management.

The details of ECL measurement for trade and other receivables are 
set out in note 32.4 to the consolidated financial statements. As at 
31 March 2025, ECL allowance of HK$1,492,000 (31 March 2024: 
HK$27,000) was recognised on these debtors.

(a) Trade receivables
Based on the invoice dates (or date of revenue 
recognition, if earlier), the ageing analysis of the trade 
receivables, net of ECL allowance, was as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

0 – 30 days 0 30 40,952 22,868
31 – 60 days 31 60 17,206 4,894
61 – 90 days 61 90 4,087 964    

62,245 28,726
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16. 
(a) 

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(a) Trade receivables (continued)

The movement in the ECL a l lowance on t rade 
receivables is as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Balance as at 1 April 27 262
ECL recognised/(reversal) during the 
 year, net  287 (235)    

Balance as at 31 March 314 27
    

The movement in the ECL a l lowance on other 
receivables is as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Balance as at 1 April – –

ECL recognised during the year, net
 1,178 –    

Balance as at 31 March 1,178 –
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16. 
(b)  

383(1)(d)

Fame Circle
Fame Circle

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b) Amounts due from the ultimate holding 
company
The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and 
repayable on demand.

Particulars of amounts due from the ultimate holding 
company, disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)(d) of the 
CO, are as follows:

31 March 
2025

Maximum 
amount 

outstanding 
during the year

31 March 
2024

Name HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Fame Circle (note) Fame Circle 110 110 110     

Balance as at 31 March 110 110
     

Note:

Fame Circle is wholly owned by Mr. Yip and Mr. Yip is the sole 
director of Fame Circle.
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17.  

2,000,000
1,000,000

12

17. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH PROFIT AND LOSS

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Life insurance policy 2,000 1,000
    

The amount represents the insurance premium paid for a 10-
year life insurance policy (the “Insurance Policy”) to insure 
a director of the Company. Under the Insurance Policy, the 
beneficiary and policy holder is the Group. The Group can 
terminate the Insurance Policy at any time and receive cash 
at the date of termination based on the account value of 
the Insurance Policy (the “Cash Surrender Value”), which is 
determined based on the premium paid with the accrued 
returns after netting of the charges (including a surrender 
charge) in accordance with the terms and conditions of the 
Insurance Policy.

The total insured sum is HK$2,000,000. At the inception 
of the Insurance Policy, the Group was required to pay an 
upfront payment of HK$1,000,000.

Payment for the Insurance Policy is classified as a financial 
asset at FVTPL as contractual rights to cash flows do not 
represent contractual cash flows that are solely payments of 
principle and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
The Insurance Policy is measured under Level 2 fair value 
hierarchy. The fair value is measured with reference to the 
quotation of the Insurance Policy from the insurance company.

The directors of the Company have no intention to terminate 
the Insurance Policy within 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period and, therefore, the amount was classified as 
a non-current asset.

The following table shows the reconciliation of Level 2 fair 
value measurement:

HK$’000

As at 1 April 2023 –
Purchased 1,000   

As at 31 March 2024 1,000
Purchased 1,000   

As at 31 March 2025 2,000
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18.  

18.1 

(i) 

(ii) 

18. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 
LIABILITIES
18.1 Contract assets

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Unbilled revenue 186,030 161,438
Retention receivables 90,885 72,282
Less: ECL allowance, net

 (3,790) (5,501)    

273,125 228,219
    

Note:

Unbilled revenue represents the Group’s right to receive 
consideration for work completed and not yet billed because 
the rights are conditional upon the satisfaction by the 
customers on the construction work completed by the Group 
and the work is pending for the certification by the customers. 
Unbilled revenue are transferred to the trade receivables 
when the rights become unconditional, which is typically at 
the time the Group obtains the certification of the completed 
construction work from the customers.

Retention receivables included in contract assets represent 
certified contract payments in respect of works performed, 
for which payments are withheld by customers for retention 
purposes, and the amount retained is withheld on each 
payment up to a maximum amount calculated on a prescribed 
percentage of the contract sum.

Changes of contract assets during the year ended 31 March 
2025 were mainly due to:

(i) Changes in retention receivables as a result of changes 
in number of ongoing and completed contracts during 
the year; and

(ii) Changes in number of contract works that the relevant 
services were completed but yet been certified at the 
end of each reporting period.
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18.  

18.1 

67,463,000
29,751,000

32.4

3,790,000
5,501,000

18. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 
LIABILITIES (continued)

18.1 Contract assets (continued)

Retention receivables are transferred to the trade 
receivables when the rights become unconditional, 
which is typically at the expiry date of the period for 
the provision of assurance by the Group on the service 
quality of the construction work performed by the 
Group. The gross amount of contract assets expected 
to be recovered/settled over one year is HK$67,463,000 
(2024: HK$29,751,000), all of the remaining balances 
were expected to be recovered/settled within one year.

The details of ECL measurement for contract assets 
are set out in note 32.4 to the consolidated financial 
statements. Based on ECL assessment, ECL allowance 
of HK$3,790,000 (2024: HK$5,501,000) has been 
recognised as at 31 March 2025.

The movement in the ECL allowance on contract assets 
are as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Balance as at 1 April 5,501 1,533
ECL (reversal)/allowance recognised 
 during the year, net  (1,711) 3,968    

Balance as at 31 March 3,790 5,501
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18.  

18.2 

 

18. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 
LIABILITIES (continued)

18.2 Contract liabilities

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Contract liabilities arising from 
 construction contracts from billings in 
 advance of performance

 
701 464

    

All of the contract l iabil it ies are expected to be 
recovered/settled within one year.

Revenue recognised in relation to contract 
liabilities

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Revenue recognised that was included 
 in the contract liabilities balance at 
 the beginning of the year

 
464 99

    



For the year ended 31 March 2025 

2024/25 年報     •      龍昇集團控股有限公司 149

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18.  

18.2 
 

19.  

18. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 
LIABILITIES (continued)

18.2 Contract liabilities (continued)

Unsatisfied long-term construction 
contracts
The transaction price allocated to the remaining 
unsatisfied or partially satisfied performance obligation 
as at 31 March are as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Within one year 927,038 985,204
    

The amounts disclosed above do not include transaction 
price allocated to performance obligations which have 
been satisfied but not yet recognised due to variable 
consideration constraint.

19. CASH, BANK BALANCES AND PLEDGED 
DEPOSITS

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Cash, bank balances and pledged deposits
 92,730 133,962

Less: bank deposits, pledged (10,404) (33,964)    

Cash and cash equivalents per the 
 consolidated statement of cash flows  82,326 99,998
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19. 

3.52%
0.68% 0.93%

21

15,058,000
23,363,000

19. CASH, BANK BALANCES AND PLEDGED 
DEPOSITS (continued)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily 
bank deposit rates.

Pledged bank deposits earn effective interest rate at 3.52% 
(2024: 0.68% – 0.93%) per annum and have a maturity of 
3 months (2024: 1 to 2 month). They have been pledged to 
secure bank facilities (note 21).

Included in bank and cash balances of the Group is 
HK$15,058,000 (2024: HK$23,363,000) of bank balances 
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) placed with banks in the 
PRC. RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Under the PRC’s 
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration 
of Settlement and Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange 
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for 
foreign currencies through banks that are authorised to 
conduct foreign exchange business.

The directors consider that the fair values of cash at bank are 
not materially different from their carrying amounts, because 
their balances have short maturity periods on their inception.
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20. 

(a) 
0 90 0

90

(b) 
(1)

1,608,000
1,938,000 (2)
1,830,000 1,247,000

( 3 )
1,509,000 1,476,000

(c) 

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Trade payables (note (a)) (a) 151,834 80,159
Accruals and other payables (note (b))

 (b) 5,836 5,514    

157,670 85,673
    

Notes:

(a) Payment terms granted by suppliers are 0 to 90 days (2024: 0 
to 90 days) from the invoice date of the relevant purchases.

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoice date 
is as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

0 – 30 days 0 30 125,527 72,258
31 – 60 days 31 60 18,469 6,667
61 – 90 days 61 90 7,474 1,234
Over 91 days 91 364 –    

151,834 80,159
    

(b) As at 31 March 2025, accruals and other payables mainly 
comprised of: (1) accrued professional fee which amounted 
to HK$1,608,000 (2024: HK$1,938,000); (2) accrued 
employee benefits of approximately HK$1,830,000 (2024: 
HK$1,247,000); and (3) amount due to a director which 
amounted to HK$1,509,000 (2024: HK$1,476,000). The 
amount due is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 
demand.

(c) All amounts are short-term and hence, the carrying values of 
the Group’s trade payables and accruals and other payables are 
considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair value.
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21. BORROWINGS
As at 31 March 2024 and 2025, the borrowings were 
repayable as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Secured bank loans repayable on demand 
 (note (a))  (a) 28,376 58,400
Unsecured corporate bond (note (c)) (c) 2,105 2,105    

30,481 60,505
Portion classified as non-current liabilities – (2,000)    

Current portion 30,481 58,505
    

Notes:

(a) As at 31 March 2025, the bank loans are interest-bearing at 
5.00% to 5.04% (2024: 4.22% to 6.19%) per annum.

(b) As at 31 March 2025, the banking facilities of the Group were 
secured by:

(1) Corporate guarantee given by the Company; and

(2) Charges on certain bank deposits (note 19) made by the 
Group.

As at 31 March 2024, the bank facilities of the Group were 
secured by:

(1) Corporate guarantee given by the Company; and

(2) Charges on certain bank deposits (note 19) made by the 
Group; and

(3) Charges on the investment property (note 14) owned by 
the Group.

(c) On 18 July 2023, the Company issued an unsecured two-year 
corporate bond with a principal amount of HK$2,000,000 
to an independent third party at an issue price equal to the 
face value of the bond. The principal of the corporate bond 
bears interest at rate of 7% per annum and interest is payable 
annually in arrears.

21. 

(a) 
5.00% 5.04%

4.22% 6.19%

(b) 

(1) 

(2) 19

(1) 

(2) 19

(3) 14

(c) 

2,000,000

7%
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22. 

6.08%

13

2,464,000
1,195,000

22. LEASE LIABILITIES
The analysis of the Group’s lease liabilities is as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Total minimum lease payments:
Within one year 3,168 856
After one year but within two years 3,472 375
After two years but within five years 1,612 196    

8,252 1,427
Future finance charges (582) (100)    

Present value of lease liabilities 7,670 1,327
    

Present value of minimum lease payment:
Within one year 2,808 806
After one year but within two years 3,282 333
After two years but within five years 1,580 188    

7,670 1,327

Less:  Portion due within one year included  
 under current liabilities

   
 (2,808) (806)    

Portion due after one year included under 
 non-current liabilities  4,862 521
    

Note:

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has entered into 
lease arrangement for a motor vehicle. The lease periods are for four 
and a half year. At the end of the lease term, the Group has the 
option to purchase the leased assets at a price that is expected to be 
sufficiently lower than the fair value of the leased asset at the end 
of the lease. The lease does not including contingent rentals and the 
effective interest rate on the lease was 6.08% per annum.

The Group has also entered into lease arrangement for office premises 
during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, details of which 
are included in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the total cash outflows for the 
leases are HK$2,464,000 (2024: HK$1,195,000).
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23. 

452,000
595,000

452,000
595,000

211,000
211,000
241,000

384,000 4

23. DEFERRED TAXATION
The net movement in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) and 
recognised in the consolidated statement of the financial 
position during the year are as follows:

Deferred 
tax assets 

attributable to 
tax losses

Deferred tax 
liabilities 

attributable to 
accelerated tax 

depreciation Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 April 2023 2,608 (3,385) (777)
Recognised in profit or loss 
 (note 9)

9
(2,608) 1,594 (1,014)     

As at 31 March 2024 and 
 1 April 2024  

 – (1,791) (1,791)
Recognised in profit or loss 
 (note 9)

9
– 836 836     

As at 31 March 2025
 – (955) (955)

     

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total 
estimated unused tax losses of approximately HK$452,000 
(2024: HK$595,000) available to carry forward against future 
taxable income. No deferred tax assets have been recognised 
in respect of tax loss of approximately HK$452,000 (2024: 
HK$595,000) due to unpredictability of future profit streams. 
Tax losses of HK$211,000 (2024: HK$211,000) do not 
expire under current legislation and HK$241,000 (2024: 
HK$384,000) will be expired in 4 years.
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24. 

(a) 

240,000,000
0.01

0.064

15,051,000

(b) 

0.01

0.1

(c) 

0.2

144,000,000 0.1
28,800,000

27,607,000

24. SHARE CAPITAL

2025 2024

Number of 
shares HK$’000

Number of 
shares HK$’000

Authorised:
As at 1 April 10,000,000,000 100,000 10,000,000,000 100,000
Share consolidation (note b) b (9,000,000,000) – – –      

As at 31 March 1,000,000,000 100,000 10,000,000,000 100,000
      

Issued and fully paid:
As at 1 April 1,200,000,000 12,000 1,200,000,000 12,000
Placing of shares (note a) a 240,000,000 2,400 – –
Share consolidation (note b) b (1,296,000,000) – – –
Issuance of shares under 
 rights issue (note c)  c 144,000,000 14,400 – –      

As at 31 March 288,000,000 28,800 1,200,000,000 12,000
      

Note:

(a) On 26 July 2024, the Company entered into the placing 
agreement with a placing agent pursuant to which the placing 
agent has agreed, as agent of the Company, to procure to not 
less than six places to subscribe for up to 240,000,000 placing 
shares with nominal value of HK0.01 each at the placing 
price of HK$0.064 per placing share. The shares issued rank 
pari passu with other shares in issue in all aspects. The net 
proceeds from placing were approximately HK$15,051,000 
after deducting the related expenses. The placing of shares was 
completed on 9 August 2024.

(b) On 13 September 2024, the Company implemented the Share 
Consolidation on the basis that every ten issued and unissued 
shares with a par value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of 
the Company be consolidated into one consolidated share (the 
“Consolidated Share”) with a par value of HK$0.1 each in the 
share capital of the Company. The Share Consolidation was 
duly passed by the shareholders of the Company by way of 
poll on 12 November 2024. Further details were set out in the 
Company’s circular dated 18 October 2024.

(c) Further on 13 September 2024, the Company implemented 
the rights issue on the basis of every one rights share for 
every one Consolidated Share held on 25 November 2024 at 
the subscription price of HK$0.2 per rights share. The rights 
issue became unconditional on 19 December 2024 and was 
completed on 23 December 2024. Total 144,000,000 ordinary 
shares with nominal value of HK$0.1 each were issued, the 
gross proceeds from the rights issue were approximately 
HK$28,800,000 and the net proceeds were approximately 
HK$27,607,000 after deducting the related expenses. These 
rights shares issued rank pari passu with the existing shares in 
all respects.
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25. 

2.3

25. RESERVES
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements 
therein for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 are 
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity 
of the consolidated financial statements.

Share premium
The share premium represents the difference between the par 
value of the shares of the Company and net proceeds received 
from the issuance of the shares of the Company.

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the 
share premium account of the Company may be applied for 
payment of distributions or dividends to the shareholders 
provided that immediately following the date on which the 
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company 
is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course 
of business.

Other reserve
Other reserve of the Group represents the difference between 
the nominal values of the share capital of subsidiaries 
acquired by the Group and the nominal value of the 
Company’s share issued under the Group’s Reorganisation 
(the “Reorganisation”) in connection with the listing of its 
shares on the Stock Exchange. Details of the Reorganisation 
are set out in the paragraph headed “Reorganisation” in the 
section headed “History and Development” in the Company’s 
prospectus dated 26 January 2018.

Translation reserve
Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences 
for the translation of financial statements of foreign 
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the 
accounting policy in note 2.3.
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26. 26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 
THE COMPANY

2025 2024

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

     

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Non-current asset
Investments in subsidiaries 15 143,765 143,765     

Current assets
Other receivables 288 253
Amounts due from subsidiaries 114,514 77,197
Cash and cash equivalents 1,718 1,722     

116,520 79,172     

Current liabilities
Other payables (1,462) (1,596)
Borrowings (2,105) (105)     

(3,567) (1,701)

Net current assets 112,953 77,471     

Total assets less current 
 liabilities 256,718 221,236
     

Non-current liability
Borrowings – (2,000)     

Net assets 256,718 219,236
     

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 24 28,800 12,000
Reserves 227,918 207,236     

Total equity 256,718 219,236
     

Mr. Yip Yuk Kit Mr. Cheung Chun Fai

Director Director
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26.  

27. 
(a) 

26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 
THE COMPANY (continued)

The movement of the Company’s reserves are as follows:

Share 
premium

Other 
reserve

Accumulated 
losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000

Balance as at 1 April 2023 96,898 143,371 (29,837) 210,432
Loss and total comprehensive 
 expense for the year – – (3,196) (3,196)      

Balance as at 31 March 2024 and
  as at 1 April 2024  96,898 143,371 (33,033) 207,236
Loss and total comprehensive 
 expense for the year – – (5,176) (5,176)      

Placing of shares (note 24) 24 12,960 – – 12,960
Issuance of shares upon rights issue 
 (note 24)

24
14,400 – – 14,400

Transaction costs attributable to 
 placing of shares (309) – – (309)
Transaction costs attributable to 
 rights issue (1,193) – – (1,193)      

Transactions with owners 25,858 – – 25,858      

Balance as at 31 March 2025
 122,756 143,371 (38,209) 227,918

      

Note:

Other reserve of the Company represents the difference between the 
total equity of subsidiaries acquired by the Company and the nominal 
value of the Company’s share issued under the Reorganisation.

27. COMMITMENTS
(a) Capital commitment

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

Property, plant and equipment
Contracted but not provided for:

Property, plant and equipment 2,042 –
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27. 
(b) 

14

28. 

27. COMMITMENTS (continued)

(b) Lease commitment
As lessee
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the lease commitments 
for short-term leases are as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year – 138
    

As lessor
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the future aggregate 
minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable operating 
leases in respect of the Group’s investment property are 
receivables as follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 56 156
After one year but within two years – 56    

56 212
    

The Group leases its investment property (note 14) 
under operating lease arrangements which run for an 
initial period of two years (2024: two years), with an 
option to renew the lease terms at the expiry date or at 
dates as mutually agreed between the Group and the 
respective tenant.

28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the balances and transactions detailed elsewhere 
in this report, the Group had the following transactions with 
its related parties during the year.

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

Rental expenses paid to a director 71 144
    



For the year ended 31 March 2025 

160 DRAGON RISE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED     •      2024/25 ANNUAL REPORT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. 

29. 

30. 

3,067,000

28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Key management personnel remuneration
The emoluments of the directors and senior management of 
the Company, who represent the key management personnel 
during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 are as 
follows:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, fee and allowances 3,639 3,602
Discretionary bonuses 303 303
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 54 54    

3,996 3,959
    

29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group has been involved 
in a number of claims, litigations and potential claims against 
the Group in relation to work-related injuries and non-
compliances. The potential claims and litigations against the 
Group, as a subcontractor, are insured by main contractor’s 
insurance policy, the directors are of the opinion that the 
claims, litigations and non-compliances are not expected 
to have a material impact on the consolidated financial 
statements, and the outcome for potential claims is uncertain. 
Accordingly, no provision has been made to the consolidated 
financial statements.

30. PERFORMANCE BOND
As at 31 March 2025, the Group has no (2024: one) 
outstanding performance bond (2024: HK$3,067,000) given 
by a bank in favor of the Group’s customer as security for the 
due performance and observance of the Group’s obligations 
under the contract entered into between the Group and 
its customer. If the Group fails to provide satisfactory 
performance to its customer to whom performance bond has 
been given, such customer may demand the bank to pay it 
the sum or sum stipulated in such demand. The Group will 
become liable to compensate such bank accordingly. The 
performance bond will be released upon completion of the 
contracting works.
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31.  31. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing 
activities can be classified as follows:

Bank loans
Corporate 

bond
Lease 

liabilities Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 April 2023 1,883 – 1,494 3,377

Cash-flows:
Capital element of lease rentals paid – – (961) (961)
Proceeds 62,150 2,000 – 64,150
Repayments (5,633) – – (5,633)
Interest paid (816) – (79) (895)
Other changes:
Reassessment of lease term – – 794 794
Interest expense for lease liabilities – – 79 79
Interest expense for borrowings 816 105 – 921      

As at 31 March 2024 58,400 2,105 1,327 61,832
      

As at 1 April 2024 58,400 2,105 1,327 61,832

Cash-flows:
Capital element of lease rentals paid – – (2,104) (2,104)
Proceeds 26,215 – – 26,215
Repayments (56,239) – – (56,239)
Interest paid (3,043) (140) (265) (3,448)
Other changes:
New lease entered – – 8,447 8,447
Interest expense for lease liabilities – – 265 265
Interest expenses for borrowings 3,043 140 – 3,183      

As at 31 March 2025 28,376 2,105 7,670 38,151
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32.  

32.1  

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUE MEASUREMENT
The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of 
financial instruments in its ordinary course of operations. 
The financial risks include foreign currency risk, interest 
rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall 
risk management strategy seeks to minimise potential 
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. Risk 
management is carried out by the senior management of the 
Group and approved by the board of directors.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk 
management policies and practices used by the Group to 
manage these risks are described below.

32.1 Categories of financial assets and 
liabilities
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated 
statement of financial position relate to the following 
categories of financial assets and liabilities:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost:
– Trade and other receivables – 122,643 29,388
–  Cash, bank balances and  

 pledged deposits
– 

92,730 133,962
–  Amount due from the ultimate  

 holding company
– 

110 110    

215,483 163,460    

Financial asset at FVTPL:
Financial asset at fair value 
 through profit and loss 2,000 1,000    

217,483 164,460
    

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at 
 amortised cost:
– Trade and other payables – (157,670) (85,673)
– Lease liabilities – (7,670) (1,327)
– Borrowings – (30,481) (60,505)    

(195,821) (147,505)
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32.  

32.2 

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

32.2 Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair 
value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 
The Group’s exposures to currency risk arise from its 
cash at bank, and its overseas sales and purchase, which 
are denominated in RMB, which are not the functional 
currency of the respective group companies.

The following table details the Group’s exposure as at 
31 March 2025 and 2024 to significant currency risks 
arising from recognised monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currency which are different 
from the Group’s functional currency.

2025 2024

RMB RMB

Equivalent Equivalent

HK$’000 HK$’000
Original currency

Trade and other receivables 20,749 21,308
Cash, bank balances and pledged 
 deposits 31,023 23,363
Trade and other payables (11,029) (3,028)    

Net exposure 40,743 41,643
    

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the 
Group’s profit after income tax during the year and 
equity in regards to the strength in the functional 
currencies of the group companies against relevant 
currencies. Weakens in the same % of functional 
currencies of the group companies against relevant 
currencies will have equal and opposite impact on the 
results of the year. The sensitivity rate is the rate used 
when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key 
management personnel and represents management’s 
best assessment of the possible change in foreign 
exchange rates.
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32.  

32.2 

32.3 

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

32.2 Foreign currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity 
rate

Decrease in 
profit after 
income tax

Decrease in 
equity

HK$’000 HK$’000

31 March 2025
RMB 5% (1,692) (1,692)
     

31 March 2024
RMB 5% (1,739) (1,739)
     

The sensitivity analysis of the Group’s exposure to 
foreign currency risk at the end of the year has been 
determined based on the assumed percentage change 
in foreign currency exchange rates taking place at 
the beginning of the financial year and held constant 
throughout the year.

32.3 Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value 
or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s 
interest rate risk arises primarily from borrowings 
and lease liabilities/obligation under finance lease. 
Borrowings and lease liabilities/obligation under finance 
lease bearing fixed rates expose the Group to fair value 
interest rate risk and the exposure to the Group is 
considered immaterial.

The exposure to interest rate risk for the Group bank 
balances and pledged bank deposits are considered 
immaterial.
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32.  

32.4 

32.1

(i) 

28 90
28 90

9

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

32.4 Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a 
financial instrument would fail to discharge its obligation 
under the terms of the financial instrument and cause 
a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s exposure 
to credit risk mainly arises from granting credit to 
customers in the ordinary course of its operations. The 
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk on recognised 
financial assets is limited to the carrying amount as at 
31 March 2025 and 2024 as summarised in note 32.1.

(i) Trade receivables and contract assets
As at 31 March 2025, for trade receivables, the 
Group usually provides customers with a credit 
term of 28 to 90 days (2024: 28 to 90 days). For 
the settlement of trade receivables from provision 
of construction services, the Group usually reaches 
an agreement on the term of each payment with 
the customer by taking into account of factors 
such as, among other things, the credit history of 
the customer, its liquidity position and the Group’s 
working capital needs, which varies on a case-
by-case basis that requires the judgement and 
experience of the management.

The Group applies the simplified approach for 
trade receivables and contract assets to provide 
ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the 
use of the lifetime expected loss provision for 
these receivables due from third parties. These 
evaluations focus on the counterparty’s financial 
position, past history of making payments and 
take into account information specific to the 
counterparty as pertaining to the economic 
environment in which the counterparty operates. 
Monitoring procedures have been implemented 
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover 
overdue balance.
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32.  

32.4 
(i) 

24% 85%
4 2 % 9 8 %

15,005,000
53,441,000

12,036,000
28,198,000

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

32.4 Credit risk (continued)

(i) Trade receivables and contract assets 
(continued)

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, individual 
credit evaluation on significant customers is 
performed by an independent valuer engaged 
by the management to estimate the ECL of trade 
receivables and contract assets. These evaluations 
focused on the customer payment history and 
current and future ability for payment taking into 
account the information specific to the customer 
as well as pertaining to the current and future 
general economic environment in which the 
customer operated.

The expected loss rates are estimated based on 
historical observed default rates over the expected 
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without 
undue cost or effort. At the end of each reporting 
period, the historical default rates are updated 
and changes in the forward-looking estimates are 
analysed.

Trade receivables and contract assets are written 
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that 
there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is 
generally the case when the Group determines 
that the debtor does not have assets or sources of 
income that could generate sufficient cash flows 
to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. The 
directors of the Group reviewed and considered 
no irrecoverable amounts should be taken account 
for the overdue trade receivables balances as at 31 
March 2025 and 2024.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has concentration 
of credit risk as 24% and 85% (2024: 42% and 
98%) of the total trade receivables were due from 
the Group’s largest customer and five largest 
customers respectively and the aggregate amounts 
of trade receivables from the Group’s largest 
customer and five largest customers amounted 
to HK$15,005,000 and HK$53,441,000 (2024: 
HK$12,036,000 and HK$28,198,000) of the 
Group’s total trade receivables as at 31 March 
2025 respectively.
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32.  

32.4 
(i) 

62,559,000
28,753,000

2 7 6 , 9 1 5 , 0 0 0
233,720,000

0.001%
3 0 . 9 8 %

0.001% 25.43% 0.001%
3 0 . 9 8 %

0.001% 25.43%

314,000
27,000

3,790,000
5,501,000

(ii) 

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

32.4 Credit risk (continued)

(i) Trade receivables and contract assets 
(continued)

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has adopted 
expected loss rate ranging from 0.001% to 
30.98% (2024: 0.001% to 25.43%) and 0.001% 
to 30.98% (2024: 0.001% to 25.43%) on the 
gross carrying amounts of the trade receivables 
and contract assets amounted to HK$62,559,000 
(2024: HK$28,753,000) and HK$276,915,000 
(2024: HK$233,720,000), respectively. The loss 
allowance of trade receivables and contract 
assets as at 31 March 2025 are HK$314,000 
(2024: HK$27,000) and HK$3,790,000 (2024: 
HK$5,501,000), respectively.

(ii) Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include 
other receivables and deposits, cash, bank 
balances and pledged deposits and amounts due 
from a director and the ultimate holding company. 
In order to minimise the credit risk of other 
receivables and deposits, the management make 
periodic collective and individual assessment on 
their recoverability based on historical settlement 
records and past experience as well as available 
forward-looking information. Other monitoring 
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up 
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In these 
regards, the credit risk of other receivables and 
deposits are considered to be low.
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32.  

32.4 
(ii) 

2.7

32.5 

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

32.4 Credit risk (continued)

(ii) Other financial assets at amortised cost 
(continued)

Besides, the management is of opinion that there 
is no significant increase in credit risk on these 
other receivables and deposits, amount due from 
a director and amount due from the ultimate 
holding company since initial recognition as the 
risk of default is low after considering the factors 
as set out in note 2.7 and, thus, ECL recognised is 
based on 12-month ECL.

The credit risks on bank balances and pledged 
deposits are considered to be insignificant because 
the counterparties are banks with high credit 
ratings assigned by international credit-rating 
agencies.

32.5 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will 
not be able to meet its obligations associated with its 
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or 
another financial asset. The Group is exposed to liquidity 
risk in respect of settlement of trade payables and its 
financing obligations, and also in respect of its cash flow 
management. The Group’s objective is to maintain an 
appropriate level of liquid assets and committed lines of 
funding to meet its liquidity requirements in the short 
and longer term.

Management monitors the cash flow forecasts of the 
Group in meeting its liabilities.

Analysed below is the Group’s remaining contractual 
maturities for its non-derivative financial liabilities as 
at 31 March 2025 and 2024. When the creditor has 
a choice of when the liability is settled, the liability is 
included on the basis of the earliest date on when the 
Group can be required to pay. Where the settlement of 
the liability is in instalments, each instalment is allocated 
to the earliest period in which the Group is committed 
to pay.
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32.  

32.5 

28,375,000
58,400,000

28,897,000
1,907,000

24,867,000

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

32.5 Liquidity risk (continued)

The contractual maturity analysis below is based on the 
undiscounted cash flows of the financial liabilities.

On demand 
or within 
one year

Over 1 year 
but within 

5 years

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flow
Carrying 
amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 March 2025
Trade and other payables (157,670) – (157,670) (157,670)
Lease liabilities (3,168) (5,084) (8,252) (7,670)
Borrowings (note) (31,037) – (31,037) (30,481)      

(191,875) (5,084) (196,959) (195,821)
      

As at 31 March 2024
Trade and other payables (85,673) – (85,673) (85,673)
Lease liabilities (856) (571) (1,427) (1,327)
Borrowings (note) (60,893) (2,035) (62,928) (60,505)      

(147,422) (2,606) (150,028) (147,505)
      

Note:

Borrowings of HK$28,375,000 (2024: HK$58,400,000) with a 
repayment on demand clause are included in the “on demand 
or within one year” time band in the above maturity analysis. 
Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the directors 
do not believe that it is probable that the bank will exercise 
its discretionary right to demand immediate repayment. 
The directors believe that such bank loans will be repaid in 
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the 
loan agreements. At that time, the principal and interest cash 
outflows computed using contractual rates with scheduled 
repayment dates within one year time-band amounted to 
HK$28,897,000 (2024: within one year time-band amounted 
to HK$1,907,000 and within second year time-bank amounted 
to HK$24,867,000).

The Group considers expected cash flows from financial assets 
in assessing and managing liquidity risk, in particular, its cash 
resources and other liquid assets that readily generate cash. 
The Group’s existing cash resources and other liquid assets 
significantly exceed the cash outflow requirements.
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32.  

32.6  

33. 

100%

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

32.6 Fair value measurement of financial 
instruments
The carry amounts of the Group’s financial assets and 
liabilities are not materially different from their fair 
values as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 due to their short 
maturities.

33. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to provide 
an adequate return to shareholders by pricing goods and 
services commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure 
and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic 
conditions. The Group monitors its capital structure on the 
basis of the gearing ratio. For this purpose, gearing ratio is 
calculated based on total borrowings divided by the total 
equity as at the end of each reporting period and multiplied 
by 100%. Total borrowings include bank loans, corporate 
bond and lease liabilities. The management reviews the capital 
structure by considering the cost of capital and the risks 
associated with each class of capital. In view of this, the Group 
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 
issue new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise new 
debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt.

The gearing ratio at the end of each reporting period was:

2025 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000

Total borrowings
 Borrowings  30,481 60,505
 Lease liabilities  7,670 1,327    

38,151 61,832
Total equity 317,778 267,835    

Gearing ratio 12.0% 23.1%
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34. 

(i)
(ii)

(iii)

34. EVENT AFTER REPORTING DATE
On 13 June 2025, Dragon Rise Auto Services Limited, a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into 
a strategic cooperation framework agreement with (i) an 
automotive trader, (ii) a mobile energy solutions provider, 
and (iii) a digital energy service provider to jointly promote 
the development of new energy industry in Hong Kong 
by constructing energy replenishment infrastructure and 
promoting electrification in transportation with an aim to 
establish a comprehensive battery-swapping network. For 
details, please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 
17 June 2025.
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The financial summary of the Group for the last five years is set as 
follows:

For the year ended 31 March

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

       

Revenue 1,314,136 945,852 786,209 613,617 922,888
Direct costs (1,265,827) (906,389) (762,014) (594,243) (936,164)       
     
Gross profit/(loss) 48,309 39,463 24,195 19,374 (13,276)
Other gains/(losses), net 2,228 (177) 7,127 1,814 15,450
Administrative expenses (36,834) (27,759) (22,023) (18,958) (21,143)
Reversal/(provision) of ECL allowance  

on trade receivables and contract  
assets, net

 
246 (3,733) (74) 336 (1,071)

Finance costs (3,448) (1,000) (186) (547) (771)       
     
Profit/(loss) before income tax 10,501 6,794 9,039 2,019 (20,811)
Income tax (expense)/credit (3,351) (2,626) (1,116) 5,412 701       

Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive 
 income/(loss) for the year  7,150 4,168 7,923 7,431 (20,110)       
     
Other comprehensive gain:
Items that may be reclassified 
 subsequently to profit or loss:  
 Exchange differences on translation of 
  overseas operations

 
(231) 27 – – –       

Total comprehensive income/(loss)  for the 
 year attributable to equity holders 
 of the Company

 
6,919 4,195 7,923 7,431 (20,110)

       

Earnings/(loss) per share attributable to 
 equity holders of the Company:  
 Basic and diluted  3.98 cents 2.36 cents 0.66 cents 0.62 cents (1.68) cents 
       

As at 31 March

2025 2024 2023 2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

       

Assets and Liabilities
Non-current assets 26,450 26,622 39,827 50,263 52,578
Current assets 489,511 392,558 268,198 247,600 249,529
Non-current liabilities 5,817 4,312 1,395 – 5,562
Current liabilities 192,366 147,033 43,348 42,504 48,617       
      
Total equity 317,778 267,835 263,282 255,359 247,928
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